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HIGHLIGHTS

TOTAL EQUITY

R1.83 billion
(2016: R1.64 billion)

NET ASSET
VALUE PER ORDINARY
SHARE

TOTAL CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

R1.88 billion

48.8 cents

(2016: R1.83 billion)

EARNINGS
PER SHARE

13.0 cents
(2016: 33.0 cents)

HEADLINE EARNINGS
PER SHARE

13.0 cents
(2016: 34.0 cents)

HEADLINE
EARNINGS / (LOSS)
PER SHARE FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(2016: 35.7 cents)

EARNINGS / (LOSS)
PER SHARE FROM
CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

13.7 cents
(2016: (6.5) cents)

13.7 cents
(2016: (6.5) cents)
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ABOUT AFRICAN PHOENIX
African Phoenix Investments Limited (“African Phoenix” or
“Phoenix” or “the Company”) is an investment holding company
based in the Republic of South Africa. Its income is generated
through interest, investment income and dividends received from
its wholly owned subsidiary, The Standard General Insurance
Company Limited (“Stangen”). Stangen provides a range of
quality, personalised and affordable insurance products in the
retail market.
The shares of African Phoenix are listed and tradeable on
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”). Please refer to
the Shareholder Information section in the Annual Financial
Statements for the Company’s registration details and share
codes.

A signed copy of the annual financial statements and the independent auditor’s report is available for inspection at our
registered office.
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LEADERSHIP REPORT
OVERVIEW

African Phoenix, previously African Bank Investments
Limited (“ABIL”), and its wholly owned subsidiary,
Stangen, delivered notably better financial outcomes
in comparison to those reported in the 2016 financial
year and are well positioned for future success.
The change in the name of the Company took place on
1 February 2017, the same day trading in ordinary and
preference shares under its new share codes commenced.
Replacement share certificates for holders of ABIL shares
were issued on 6 February 2017.

GOVERNANCE

African Phoenix is committed to good corporate governance
as expressed in the King IV Report on Corporate Governance
for South Africa (2016) (“King IV”) as well as established
principles of best governance practice.
In line with the principles outlined in King IV, the Company
has, in particular continued to strengthen its board of
directors (“Board”) throughout the course of the year. This is
evident in the number of new appointments that took place
during the period. The complementary knowledge, skills and
experience of the new directors has significantly enhanced the
Board’s overall capacity and capability, and has contributed to
diversity in terms of both race and gender.
With regard to executive leadership, the short-term contract
of Dr Enos Banda (“Enos”), who was the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) for just over a year, expired in
November 2017. The Board is currently in the process of
recruiting a suitable replacement and will advise shareholders
and other stakeholders as soon as an appointment has
been made.
With regard to the independence of its directors,
African Phoenix is chaired by an independent non-executive
director and most of its Board members are independent
non-executive directors. As a governing body, the Board
ensures that African Phoenix complies with the listing
requirements of the JSE and all applicable legislation.
The Board is responsible for the Company’s strategic direction
and performance, and is accountable to both regulators
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and shareholders. At subsidiary level, this responsibility is
delegated to an independent Board, which is responsible for
the good governance and financial performance of Stangen.
Stangen is accountable to its shareholder, African Phoenix,
for its financial performance and is required to comply with
African Phoenix’s policies.
African Phoenix continues to evaluate the composition of
its Board on an ongoing basis and will appoint additional
members as and when necessary. The Board will seek
appropriate external advice as required in discharging
its duties.

STRATEGY

As a publicly listed investment holding company, African
Phoenix’s primary aim is to create and sustain long-term value
as measured by consistent growth in net asset value, before
distributions to shareholders.
Accordingly, the Board has chosen to position African
Phoenix as an investment holding company, managed
primarily by black South Africans who have a proven track
record of deploying capital in a manner that generates longterm economic value.
It is the Company’s intention to reach its long-term goal by
owning meaningful equity interests in a range of diverse
businesses that have either a proven track record or a proven
business concept. These businesses should demonstrably
generate or be able to generate cash and should earn
acceptable returns in relation to the initial capital invested.
While African Phoenix is a listed company, it is able to benefit
from the advantages of operating as a private equity investor
without the limitations of a typical private equity structure,
which usually demands an exit from investee companies
within a defined period. Investments are selected with a
long-term view in mind and the intention is that they will be

maintained for as long as they continue to meet the Company’s investment criteria. Conversely,
investments will be disposed of should they fall short of these criteria.
The performance of deployed capital is actively assessed against the investment criteria on an
ongoing basis to make sure that African Phoenix meets its long-term objective of growing the
Company’s net asset value by more than the cost of capital at portfolio level.

OUTLOOK

African Phoenix will continue to use its strong balance sheet to take advantage of appropriate
investment opportunities and to build shareholder value.
At subsidiary level, Stangen will continue to strengthen its distribution network and to actively
seek out synergies that will enable it to secure its long-term sustainability.
For and on behalf of the Board

Morris Mthombeni
Chairman
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LEADERSHIP REPORT continued

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MORRIS MTHOMBENI
(“MORRIS”)
Chairperson

Independent NonExecutive Director
BProc, LLB, B Juris, MBA
(Finance), PhD Fellow
(University of Pretoria)
Morris is currently an
executive director at the
University of Pretoria’s
Gordon Institute of Business
Science (GIBS), a governance
practitioner and a mass-tech
entrepreneur. Prior to this, he
pursued an executive-level
career in financial services
for a period of two decades,
during which time he held,
amongst others, the position
of CEO at a large investment
management business and
the position of Executive
Director at a large insurancebased financial services
company.
Morris chairs the Board and
serves on the Remuneration,
Nomination, Transformation,
Social and Ethics Committee
(“RNTSE Committee”).
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ALETHEA CONRAD
(“LEA”)

Independent NonExecutive Director
BA, LLB (Rhodes),
Management Advancement
Programme (Wits Business
School), International
Executive Development
Programme (Wits Business
School and London
Business School)

CARMEN LE GRANGE
(“CARMEN”)
Independent NonExecutive Director

BCom, CA(SA), PostGraduate Diploma in
Accountancy (University of
KwaZulu-Natal)

While at Oceana, Lea led
the process required to
ensure that the group was
included on the JSE’s Socially
Responsible Investment Index
for 10 consecutive years. Lea
also successfully led the longterm commercial fishing rights
allocation process (licence to
operate) for the group. She
also created and established
the Oceana Empowerment
Trust in 2006, through
which more than 2 600
black employees now own
13.8 million shares in Oceana.

Carmen has 22 years of
experience in auditing
and consulting in the
accounting profession and
was previously a partner at
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Proprietary Limited (PwC).
She headed up the Business
Resilience practice for Africa
and was part of the global
risk leadership team. She
also headed up the Advisory
human capital function
where she was responsible
for 1 400 staff members,
served as the Advisory
Transformation Leader and
was a member of the PwC
southern Africa Governing
Board. She is the CEO of
a power and infrastructure
maintenance business and
runs a consultancy practice
that specialises in corporate
governance, risk management,
organisational and financial
transformation and diversity.
Carmen is a member of the
South African Institute of
Chartered Accountants, the
Independent Regulatory Board
of Auditors and the Black
Management Forum.

Lea chairs the RNTSE
Committee.

She is chairperson of the
Audit and Risk Committee.

Lea has extensive executive
experience, which was gained
from serving as an executive
director of the JSE-listed
group, Oceana. Prior to joining
Oceana, Lea held legal advisory
and strategy positions at
Transnet Limited and practised
as an attorney. She is highly
skilled in scenario planning
as it relates to future policies
and strategy development,
particularly within highly
regulated industries.
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OYAMA ANDREW
MABANDLA
(“OYAMA”)
Independent NonExecutive Director

BA (Political Science)
(University of California),
Juris Doctorate (Columbia
University School of Law)
Oyama joined the
Johannesburg Bar as a
practising advocate in January
1999 after working as an
investment banker for the
Union Bank of Switzerland.
He was then headhunted by
South African Airways (“SAA”)
as general counsel, later
becoming the Deputy CEO
of SAA. He has held various
positions during his career,
including board chairperson at
both Vodacom Group Limited
and Consol Glass Proprietary
Limited; director of Group
Five Limited and Mvela Group
Limited; and as a member
of the JP Morgan African
Advisory Board.
Oyama is chairperson of the
Investment Committee and
is a member of the RNTSE
Committee.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

SAMUEL SITHOLE
(“SAM”)

Non-Executive Director
CA(SA) ACA(UIC) CA(Z)
PLD (Harvard Business
School)
Sam is the CEO and cofounder of Value Capital
Partners Proprietary Limited,
a current shareholder
in African Phoenix. He
previously served as the
Group Financial Director of
Brait SE and a member of
the Brait Investment team for
eight years. Prior to that, he
was the Audit Leader for the
Deloitte and Touche Group.
Sam is currently a nonexecutive director for Allied
Electronics Corporation
Limited and Adcorp Holdings
Limited.
He is a member of the
Investment Committee and
the RNTSE Committee.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

NONZUKISO
SIYOTULA (“ZUKIE”)

DANIËL VLOK
(“DANIE”)

CA(SA), MBA (Gordon
Institute of Business
Science), Executive
Leadership Programmes at
INSEAD, Harvard Business
School and Oxford
Business School

BCom, MBA (University of
Pretoria)

Independent NonExecutive Director

Zukie was CEO of Thebe
Capital at Thebe Investment
Corporation from 2014
to 2016, where she was
responsible for managing
a portfolio of strategic
investments. Prior to joining
the Thebe Group, she held
various senior positions at the
Barclays Africa Group, Old
Mutual Retail Mass, Royal
Bafokeng Holdings and South
African Breweries.
Zukie serves on the Audit
and Risk Committee and the
Investment Committee.

Independent NonExecutive Director

Danie has worked in merchant
banking for more than 20 years
and gained a wealth of banking
industry experience during a
five-year tenure at the South
African Reserve Bank. During
his career, he has served as
an executive director of Real
Africa Holdings, as well as on
the board and committees
of all of its subsidiary and
investment companies. He has
also served as a non-executive
director on the board and
committees of a number of
companies operating in the
banking, life assurance, asset
management, technology,
engineering and manufacturing
industries.
Danie serves on the Audit and
Risk Committee.

JOHN EVANS
(“JOHN”)

Financial Director
CA(Aus), CA(SA), BCom
(Wits)
John has 20 years experience
in providing business advisory
services.
Prior to establishing his
company, RS Advisors,
he worked for Deloitte
Reorganisation Services
in Edinburgh and then as
a director in the Deloitte
Corporate Finance team in
the Republic of South Africa,
where his specific focus
was on restructuring and
turnaround management
projects. As an independent
consultant, he has worked
on a number of restructuring
and corporate finance
assignments in the Republic
of South Africa, Europe and
the Middle East.
John was one of the business
rescue practitioners of
ABIL who, together with
Dawie van der Merwe,
oversaw the successful
business rescue of ABIL.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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LEADERSHIP AND
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES
BOARD
Independent Non-Executive Chair: M Mthombeni
Independent Non-Executive Directors: A Conrad, D Vlok, O Mabandla, N Siyotula; C Le Grange
Non-Executive Director: S Sithole
Executive Director: J Evans (FD)
All non-executive directors have access to management and company information as required.
The Board delegates certain functions and oversight to the committees of the Board.

Annual external
review of
Board effectiveness

A third of the Board
members retire at
each AGM

REMUNERATION,
NOMINATION,
TRANSFORMATION AND
SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE

Chair: A Conrad

Chair: C Le Grange

Chair: O Mabandla

Members: D Vlok,
N Siyotula

Members: S Sithole,
N Siyotula

Members: S Sithole,
M Mthombeni, O Mabandla

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

The Board and committees monitor and oversee:

EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT

FD: J Evans

African Phoenix INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

The Board provides ethical leadership and is committed to
good governance practices that add value to African Phoenix,
it is the Company’s highest decision-making body and is
responsible for the establishment and maintenance of the
ethical culture of the Company based upon good corporate
governance values. The chairperson of the Board and the
company secretary ensure that a sound structure is in place
to enhance good corporate governance.
The Board recognises that good corporate governance
emanates from effective, responsible leadership, which is
characterised by the values of responsibility, accountability,
fairness and transparency. Its code of ethics provides
guidance to the Company’s executive team to ensure that
they act with uncompromising honesty and integrity in its
interactions with all stakeholders.
The Board also plays a pivotal role in strategic planning and
establishing clear benchmarks against which to measure
the Company’s strategic objectives. It ensures the existence
of necessary committee structures, with clear terms of
reference that assist the Board committees in discharging
their responsibilities and upholding the Company’s ethics and
strategic objectives.

GOVERNANCE OBJECTIVES

African Phoenix recognises that the principles of good
corporate governance and transparent, comprehensive
business practices are essential to protect the interests of
all of its stakeholders and is committed to ensuring that
it remains a responsible corporate citizen. The Board is
responsible for the Company’s compliance with applicable
laws, rules, codes and standards which is an integral part of
the Company’s culture, and key to ensuring it achieves its
strategy. The Board is satisfied that African Phoenix complied
with all King IV recommendations.

THE BOARD

The Board reviews and approves the strategic objectives
and policies of the Company, and provides overall strategic
direction within a framework of incentives and controls.
It ensures that the executive team maintains an appropriate
balance between promoting the long-term sustainable growth
of the Company and delivering short-term performance
objectives. The newly approved strategy is robust, targets
areas for growth and will be implemented so as to balance
value creation with maintaining sound controls and a strong
focus on risk management. In setting African Phoenix’s
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strategy the Board considered future trends and economic
assumptions and identified opportunities and risks that
could impact the Company’s growth ambitions. The Board
approved strategy is more comprehensively set out on page 4
of the annual report.
The Board delegates authority to the executive team to
manage the Company’s day-to-day affairs. In this regard
the Board regularly monitors and reviews the delegated
authorities to ensure that they are aligned with principles
of best practice as well as the recommendations set out in
King IV. The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the delegation
of authority and presents its findings to the Board annually.

THE BOARD CHARTER

The Board operates under an approved charter which
regulates the way business is conducted, in line with the
principles of sound corporate governance and King IV, and
provides that the Board has ultimate accountability and
responsibility for the Company’s performance and affairs.
The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in
accordance with the charter.

BOARD MEETINGS

Board meetings are held at least quarterly. The agenda and
relevant supporting documents are distributed to directors
before each board meeting and the appropriate executive
director will explain and motivate items where decisions
should be taken by the Board.

BOARD APPOINTMENTS

The Board, assisted by the RNTSE Committee, appoints
new directors through a formal, fair and transparent process.
The RNTSE Committee consists of a majority of independent
non-executive directors and those discussions pertaining to
the nomination and appointment of new directors is chaired
by the Board chairperson.
The Board, together with the RNTSE Committee, considers
diversity in terms of race, gender and skills when making
new appointments.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD

Carmen was appointed to the Board as an independent
non-executive director on 28 March 2017.
Zukie was appointed to the Board as an independent
non-executive director on 22 September 2017.
Oyama was appointed to the Board as an independent
non-executive director on 22 September 2017.

Sam was appointed to the Board as a non-executive director
on 22 September 2017.
Issac Shongwe resigned as a chairperson and a member of
the Board on 31 July 2017.
Peter Mountford was appointed to the Board as an
independent non-executive director on 28 March 2017 and
resigned on 19 July 2017.
On 30 November 2017 Enos’ contract as CEO of African
Phoenix expired and he was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company. Enos resigned as a non-executive
director on 15 January 2018 to focus on other business
responsibilities. The Board thanks Enos for his contributions
to the Company and wishes him well in his future endeavours.
An abbreviated curriculum vitae of each newly appointed
director appears on pages 6 and 7.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND
SUCCESSION PLANNING

The Board is comprised of eight directors: one executive,
one non-executive and six independent non-executives.
The Board is satisfied that it has the requisite balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity to make it effective.
The Board evaluates its composition on an ongoing basis
and will appoint additional members as and when the
need arises.

BOARD EVALUATION AND
INDEPENDENCE

As required by King IV, board evaluations are conducted
on an annual basis with further reviews being conducted
at appropriate intervals as and when required. Areas of
improvement are noted and addressed on an ongoing basis.
The evaluations conducted assess the Board’s effectiveness
as a team, how well the Board committees function and
discharge their duties as stated in the respective terms of
reference, as well as the commitment and performance of the
individual directors.

The Board specifically considers the independence of
directors and their commitments on the date of appointment
and annually thereafter. This evaluation is done to determine
whether a director has sufficient time to discharge his or her
duties effectively and is free from conflicts that cannot be
managed satisfactorily.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary (“Acorim”) provides the Board with
guidance in respect of the discharge of directors’ duties and
responsibilities, and regarding legislation, regulatory and
governance procedures and requirements. The Board has
access to, and is aware of, the responsibilities and duties of
the company secretary, who also acts as secretary to the
Board appointed committees.
The Board is satisfied that Acorim has the required
knowledge, skill and discipline to perform the functions
and duties of the company secretary. In its assessment of
the company secretary the Board concluded that Acorim
maintains an arm’s length relationship with the Company and
its Board in that no Acorim employees are directors of the
Company, nor do they have any interests or relations that may
affect independence.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board and its committees are structured to ensure that
African Phoenix delivers on its mandate and responsibilities
as an investment holding company, while simultaneously
adhering to the principles of good governance set out in
King IV. Within that framework, the Board and its committees
strive to ensure that the Company delivers good performance
and always operates ethically and with a social conscience.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

MAIN FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND COMMITTEES

BOARD

REMUNERATION,
NOMINATION,
TRANSFORMATION AND
SOCIAL AND ETHICS
COMMITTEE

• Strategy

• Nominations

• Corporate governance

• Committee charters

• Legislative and regulatory compliance

• Delegation of authority

• Financial performance

• Oversight and accountability

• Formulation, implementation and monitoring of
Executive Remuneration Policy, Transformation Policy,
Gender Equity Policy, and Social and Ethics Policy
• Nomination of directors

• Oversight of all financial and sustainability reporting, including legal, regulatory
and tax compliance

AUDIT AND RISK
COMMITTEE

• Review of financial viability, solvency and going concern status
• Oversight of external audit processes and internal financial controls
• Risk governance and oversight of risk management
• Information technology governance

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

12

• Development, implementation and
monitoring of investment strategy in
consultation with the Board
• Consider and recommend
transactions and investment
proposals to the Board for approval
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• Identification and assessment of
investment
• Review and assessment of
capital structures and funding
requirements

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board delegates certain functions to various committees
in which independent non-executive, non-executive and
executive directors participate. The Board committees
fulfil their obligations contained in the Companies Act and
the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, as well as
the recommendations contained in King IV. As and where
necessary the committees execute further duties delegated to
them by the Board.
In discharging its duties, the Board delegates authority
to the committees and individuals through clearly defined
terms of reference, which it reviews regularly. The Board
maintains effective control through a well-developed
governance framework that provides for the delegation of
authority. The chairperson of each committee is elected by
the members of the relevant committee, who themselves are
appointed by the Board.
The duties and responsibilities of the various committees do
not reduce the individual and collective responsibilities of the
Board in respect of the carrying out of their fiduciary duties
and legal obligations.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee has specific statutory duties
to shareholders which are described in its terms of reference.
The Audit and Risk Committee was chaired by Morris, an
independent non-executive director, until 19 September 2017
when he was appointed as chairperson of the Board. Morris
was replaced by Carmen on 22 September 2017.
Responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee responsibilities are set out
in the Audit and Risk Committee’s report on page 30 of the
annual financial statements.
The Audit and Risk Committee considered and satisfied itself
of the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the
FD, whose qualifications appear on page 7 of this Report.

the year ahead. Their statement in this regard is contained in
the directors’ approval to the financial statements. Refer to
page 30 of the annual financial statements for the Audit and
Risk Committee’s report.
The Audit and Risk Committee performed an assessment on
the suitability of the JSE-accredited auditors, Grant Thornton
Johannesburg Partnership and Soné Kock, as the designated
individual registered auditor for re-appointment as the
Company’s external auditors. Based on the assessment
which concluded that both the audit firm and the individual
auditor understand their roles and have the competence,
expertise, experience and skills required to discharge their
specific audit and financial reporting responsibilities, the
committee recommended to the Board that they be reappointed to continue as the Company’s external auditors.

THE INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee consists of three non-executive
directors who consider all cash and other investment
opportunities and capital expenditure proposed by the
Company’s executive. The Investment Committee can
recommend such investment opportunities and capital
expenditure to the Board for final approval.
The Investment Committee’s duties and responsibilities are
governed by its terms of reference, which is reviewed annually
by the Board.
Responsibilities of the Investment Committee
The Investment Committee is responsible for the following:
• Development, implementation and monitoring of
investment strategies in consultation with the Board;
• Identification and assessment of investment opportunities;
• Review and assess capital structures and funding
requirements; and
• Consider and recommend transactions and investment
proposals to the Board for approval.

The Audit and Risk Committee considered and satisfied itself
regarding the appropriateness of the expertise, adequacy of
the resources of the Company’s financial function and are of
the opinion that the Company will remain a going concern in

African Phoenix INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE

Summary of Board meeting attendance by non-executive directors

Total number of meetings
In attendance
M Mthombeni

Board

Audit & Risk
Committee

Remuneration,
Nomination,
Transformation
and
Social & Ethics
Committee

9

5

4

4

9

5

2

3

Investment
Committee

A Conrad

9

4

4

n/a

C Le Grange

3

2

n/a

1

P Mountford

1

n/a

1

3

I Shongwe

7

n/a

4

n/a

D Vlok

9

5

n/a

3

Notes:
1. Lea was a member of the Audit and Risk Committee until 14 June 2017.
2. Morris, Carmen and Danie were members of the Investment Committee until 19 September 2017.
3. Morris was chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee until 19 September 2017.
4. Isaac Shongwe was chairperson of the Board until 31 July 2017.
5. Peter Mountford was member of the Board, Investment Committee and RNTSE Committee from 28 March 2017 to 19 July 2017.
6. Isaac Shongwe and Peter Mountford attended all meetings held in the period that they were members of the Board.

AFRICAN PHOENIX RISK ANALYSIS
OVERVIEW

As an investment holding company, African Phoenix’s
main assets comprise a combination of investments in
going concerns, cash and other short-term investments.
The Company following the conclusion of the business
rescue process is in a sound financial position.
The Company has one operating subsidiary, Stangen.
An analysis of the Stangen specific risks is set out below.

RISK MANAGEMENT

African Phoenix has a robust risk management framework in
place and associated policies, risks, controls and mitigating
actions are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board and
Audit and Risk Committee. No material weaknesses have
been identified in the control environment that could adversely
impact the Company from achieving its strategic objectives.

RISK RATINGS

The Company’s financial position is sound, as such financial
and solvency risks were rated as low.
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Operational risks relating to the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and/or
systems or from external events was rated as low.
Strategic risks were rated as moderate and are discussed in
more detail below.

STRATEGIC RISKS

Strategic risk is the risk of an organisation not being able to
fulfil its strategic objectives or implement its business plan.
The main factor influencing strategic risk relates to the
appointment of a new CEO and management team.
Strategic risks will only reduce once the aforementioned
appointments have been made. Thereafter, the biggest risk
we face as African Phoenix in implementing our strategy is
not finding those deals that would properly utilise our cash
and leverage our strong balance sheet.
The Investment Committee reviews the cash investment
strategies used by management on a regular basis.
The Investment Committee assesses and must consider and
recommend all non-cash investment opportunities, potential
corporate activity, mergers and acquisitions and capital
expenditure to the Board for approval.

STANGEN RISK ANALYSIS
OVERVIEW

Stangen is the sole operating subsidiary of African Phoenix.
It successfully applied for and received its own Financial
Services Provider licence in November 2016.
Stangen’s management has conclusively dealt with all
legacy issues arising from the financial settlement reached
in the 2016 financial year with regard to the credit life book
originated by African Bank Limited and Residual Debt
Services Limited.
The legal transfer of the run-down credit life portfolio to
Guardrisk Life Limited was approved by the Financial Services
Board (“FSB”) on 8 June 2017, with an effective date of
30 June 2017. The transfer was a major milestone for Stangen
and has resulted in Stangen no longer having any legacy issues
or risks arising from its historic relationship with African Bank
Limited.
Stangen essentially operates as a start-up niche direct life
insurer, but with the benefit of a small in-force portfolio that
was retained and which will accelerate its development
to maturity.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Stangen’s risk management and control environment has
stabilised following a major review and significant changes
during the 2016 financial year. The risk management
framework and associated policies are reviewed on an
ongoing basis by the Stangen Board and Risk Committee
in line with insurance industry regulatory requirements.
No material weaknesses have been identified in the
control environment.
The Stangen Board submits regulatory returns and Own Risk
and Solvency Assessment Reports to the FSB on a regular
basis. These detail Stangen’s exposure to current and future
risks, as well as the interrelationships between the risks. They
also set out the appropriate minimum levels for the regulatory
and internal capital requirements necessary to meet prevailing
regulatory solvency requirements and Board-approved
strategic imperatives.
These assessments take place within the framework of the
risk appetite defined by the Stangen Board, which targets
a minimum return for shareholders taking into account the
appropriate risk framework. Stangen has hosted regular
onsite visits from the FSB over the past three years and
no major issues have been raised by the regulator about
Stangen’s ability to operate.

RISK RATINGS

Financial- and solvency-related risks were rated to be minor
during the reporting period due to the strength of Stangen’s
balance sheet.

Operational, business and strategic risks were however rated
as major risks by the Board given the infancy of Stangen’s
new operating model. This was an expected outcome as the
business model had been completely revamped and many
operational processes had been changed during the 2016
financial year. While significant progress had been made by
management in these areas by the 2017 year-end, it was still
too soon to adjust the risk rating to moderate.
Regulatory risks were rated as major, given the pace and
extent of regulatory change.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and/or systems or from
external events.
• The Stangen team remains small, managing multiple
functions and, as such, both staff retention risk and
succession planning risk remain a concern.
• New sales and partner risks are mitigated by:
–– Actively monitoring outsourced functions and engaging
regularly with business partners; and
–– Implementing new sales processes, which are
continuously monitored and improved whenever
necessary.

STRATEGIC AND BUSINESS RISK

Strategic risk is the risk of an organisation not being able to
fulfil its strategic objectives or implement its business plan.
Business risk is the risk of changes occurring in the external
environment that may have a direct or indirect impact on
the business and its ability to fulfil its strategic objectives or
implement its business plan.
Stangen is focusing on improving the quality of new business
as well as the company’s overall collection rates despite
the fact that it is operating in a very constrained economic
environment, which naturally impacts on affordability and
policy lapse rates.

REGULATORY RISK

Regulatory risk is the risk of losses arising from changes in
legislation or regulation.
Stangen operates in a highly regulated insurance industry
environment. While the Board does not expect any material
impact due to regulatory changes during the 2018 financial
year, the pace and extent of change is onerous. The Board
therefore actively monitors changes to the regulations
affecting the insurance industry, including changes to
International Financial Reporting Standards accounting
standards, Protection of Personal Information Act and other
regulations such as the Financial Sector Charter Code.
African Phoenix INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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REMUNERATION, NOMINATION,
TRANSFORMATION AND SOCIAL
AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT
We are pleased to present the RNTSE Committee report
for the 2017 financial year. As African Phoenix is relatively
small in size, it has a single Board committee that deals with
remuneration, nomination, transformation and social and
ethics matters.

RNTSE COMMITTEE

The RNTSE Committee is chaired by an independent
non-executive director and has three further members,
two of whom are independent non-executive directors.
The committee has been incorporated as a sub-committee
of the Board in terms of the guidelines specified in King IV.
The members of the RNTSE Committee, as at the date of this
report, are as follows:
Name

Date appointed

Directorship status

A Conrad

28 September 2016 Independent
Non‑Executive Director
and Chair

M Mthombeni

19 September 2017 Independent
Non‑Executive Director

O Mabandla

22 September 2017 Independent
Non‑Executive Director

S Sithole

16 November 2017 Non-Executive Director

The RNTSE Committee is responsible for the following in the
area of remuneration policy and practice:
• Defining, implementing and monitoring a remuneration
policy that is aligned with the strategy of the Company and
is linked to individual performance;
• Ensuring that the remuneration policy reflects the interests
of stakeholders, is comparable to the general remuneration
environment in the sector, and complies with relevant
principles of corporate governance;
• Ensuring that the directors, both executive and nonexecutive, are fairly and responsibly rewarded;
• Considering the performance of the directors and
executive management when determining their
remuneration;
• Reviewing the terms and conditions of remuneration
packages for directors and executive management at least
once each year;
• Reviewing the terms and conditions of executive servicelevel agreements at least once each year; and
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• Reviewing and recommending to the Board performancerelated incentive schemes, performance criteria and
measurements.
In respect of nominations and appointments of directors, the
RNTSE Committee is responsible, inter alia, for the following:
• Establishing formal processes for the appointment of
directors;
• Succession planning for the offices of chair and executive
directors;
• Identifying suitably qualified and experienced individuals for
appointment to the Board and the committees; and
• Performance evaluations of directors.
In the areas of transformation, social issues and ethics, the
RNTSE Committee is responsible for the following:
• Ensuring that the Board, executive, management and staff
of the Company fairly represent the demographics of the
Republic of South Africa;
• Implementing and monitoring the Company’s gender
equity policy;
• Providing guidance on the development, implementation
and monitoring of a corporate social investment policy;
• Providing guidance on the development, implementation
and monitoring of a social and ethics policy;
• Assisting the Board in creating and sustaining an ethical
business culture aligned to the principles defined in
King IV; and
• Monitoring compliance with ethical business principles.

REMUNERATION

Executive remuneration is a key focus area for the RNTSE
Committee as the executive team needs to be remunerated
and incentivised in a way that promotes the behaviours and
actions required to deliver on the Company’s strategy and to
grow shareholder value.
Key aspects of the RNTSE Committee’s work during the
reporting period included:
• The development of a remuneration framework that
will complement the Company’s strategy and facilitate
the employment of a suitably qualified and experienced
executive team to deliver on that strategy;
• The retention and strengthening of the financial
management team;

• The recruitment of new members to the Board; and
• Undertaking the process of recruiting a permanent CEO.
During the 2017 financial year, the Company only had two
employees, both of whom were executive directors. They
held the positions of CEO and FD. They were rewarded on
a guaranteed pay basis only and were neither granted nor
received any incentives.
In view of the limited number of executives and the need to
meet the responsibilities of the RNTSE Committee, greater
input was needed from its members, requiring additional
meetings to be held during the year.
Shortly after the financial year-end the CEO’s contract came
to an end. The Board has embarked on the process of
recruiting a new CEO and expects to be able to do so early
in 2018. In order to attract a new CEO and an executive
team with the requisite skills to implement the Company’s
strategy, the RNTSE Committee recognises the need to offer
a competitive remuneration package that encompasses both
fixed and variable pay structures. It has therefore appointed
advisors to assist in benchmarking executive salaries.
The Company’s intention is to appoint a management team
with demonstrable skill in deploying capital and generating
value for the Company. Consequently, the RNTSE Committee
has already begun work simultaneously with the recruitment
process to develop a comprehensive remuneration framework
to align the executive team with delivery of the strategy.

REMUNERATION POLICY

African Phoenix is committed to being a high-performing
investment holding company. The Company’s remuneration
policy reflects this objective and aims to reward highperforming individuals for their contribution to the successful
implementation of the business strategy. In line with this,
its remuneration framework is modelled on those used by
private equity fund managers with remuneration linked to
value creation. The executive will be offered a fixed salary
component with incentives aligned to performance and
value creation.
The remuneration policy aims to:
• Provide a framework for the management of total reward
within the Company;
• Reward and retain employees with the necessary skills to
foster the continuous growth of the Company;
• Encourage sustainable long-term performance that will be
in the best interests of the Company;
• Support and encourage behaviour consistent with its
values and culture;

• Promote an appropriate balance between the needs,
expectations and risk exposure of its stakeholders in order
to ensure the creation of sustainable long-term value;
• Demonstrate transparency based on external benchmarks
in order to ensure fairness and equity; and
• Ensure alignment with the principles of good corporate
and compensation governance.
The RNTSE Committee will review the remuneration policy
on an annual basis in order to ensure that it is robust enough
not only to support the Company’s strategic objectives, but to
ensure that it is aligned to best market practice. It will be put
to a shareholder vote at the AGM every year.

REMUNERATION ELEMENTS

The executive reward framework is designed to fairly and
transparently reward each individual’s contribution and value
to the Company. The remuneration of executive directors will
consist of a mix between guaranteed pay and variable pay
which is linked to performance. This is to ensure that there
is alignment between the interests of the executives and
the Company.
The different elements include:

COST TO COMPANY

The Company benchmarks executive remuneration against
comparable companies in order to ensure that the cost-tocompany element is market-related and fair. As a general
guideline, the Company aims to remunerate employees
who perform as expected at the median. This principle can,
however, be adjusted if necessary in order to attract and
retain scarce human resources.
The following factors are taken into consideration when
determining salary increases:
• Company performance;
• Market conditions;
• Overall affordability;
• Inflation; and
• Individual performance.

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE

The aim of the short-term incentive (“STI”) scheme is to
encourage the achievement of results within an agreed risk
appetite framework and to encourage behaviour aligned with
the Company’s values and the interests of its shareholders
and other stakeholders.
An STI scheme will be implemented to reward members of
executive management a cash bonus based on financial
returns over a specified period. The STI will be determined
based on performance scorecards.
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RNTSE continued

IMPLEMENTATION

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE

A long-term incentive (“LTI”) scheme will be developed and
implemented as a means to retain employees and to align the
interests of executives with those of shareholders.

The remuneration policy has been implemented as per
the above. Following the previous AGM we engaged with
shareholders to obtain their specific feedback on the
remuneration report. For the 2016 financial year, the Company
received a 50.72% non-binding advisory vote in favour of
the remuneration policy. We have taken cognisance of the
engagement feedback received, which in brief, related to the
limited implementation of the remuneration policy, particularly
as it related to linking remuneration to performance.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Basic remuneration, benefits and bonuses paid to executive directors

Salary

Retirement,
medical aid
contributions
and other
payments

2017

R000

R000

E Banda1

2 483

–

–

2 483

–

2 483

3 196

–

1 329

4 525

–

4 525

5 679

–

1 329

7 008

–

7 008

J Evans2

1

2

3

18

Total costto-company
package

Annual
bonus

Total
cost-tocompany
package

R000

R000

R000

R000

Other fees3

Enos was appointed as non-executive chairperson on 6 September 2016, executive chairperson on 1 October 2016 and, subsequently, as CEO on
14 December 2016. Enos’ term as CEO ended on 30 November 2017. He subsequently served as a non-executive director until his resignation on
15 January 2018.
John was appointed as FD on 1 October 2016. Prior to his appointment, he was one of the Company’s two business rescue practitioners for the period
5 June 2015 to 19 May 2016.
Other fees:
The other fees received by John Evans were in respect of his appointment as one of the joint business rescue practitioners for African Phoenix.
These fees, incurred and paid in the reporting period, relate to assets established and preserved during business rescue and realised during that period.
The fees were paid in terms of the business rescue contract signed with the Company.
All fees received by the business rescue practitioners in the 2016 financial year were disclosed as part of related party transactions.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors are paid a combination of fixed
fees and meeting attendance fees for the fulfilment of their
responsibilities and duties. Fixed fees are not dependent on
attendance at meetings. The fees payable to non-executive
directors for the 2018 financial year were approved by
the shareholders in terms of sections 66(8) and (9) of the
Companies Act and in line with King IV during the annual
general meeting on 19 July 2017.

Directors’ performance is evaluated annually through a peer
review process by all members of the Board. Non-attendance
at meetings is addressed by the chairman of the Board as
part of the performance assessment of each director.
The non-executive directors do not participate in any STI
and LTI schemes and do not receive any other benefits.
All expenses incurred in connection with the attendance of
meetings, such as travel and accommodation, are reimbursed
at cost.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The fees paid to non-executive directors are disclosed in the table below.
2017

2016

Services
to the
Services
Company to subsidiaries
N Adams
E Banda
A Conrad
M Gumbi
N Langa-Royds
C Le Grange
M Mogase
P Mountford
M Mthombeni
I Shongwe
J Symmonds
D Vlok

Total

Services
to the
Services
company to subsidiaries

Total

R000

R000

R000

R000

R000

R000

–

–

–

342

–

342

–

–

–

714

–

714

–

–

–

–

–

–

263

–

263

–

–

–

173

–

173

916

391

1 307

612

–

612

–

–

–

693

–

3 371

391

171

–

171

128

–

128

252

–

252

252

–

252

–

–

–

529

–

529

–

–

–

430

290

720

8

–

8

352

–

352

693

128

–

128

3 762

2 592

290

2 882
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RNTSE continued

NOMINATION

d.

The RNTSE Committee has to ensure that the Board has
the necessary balance of skills, knowledge, independence
and experience to enable it to discharge its responsibilities.
The RNTSE Committee was assigned the responsibility
for nominations of directors during August 2017. Prior to
August 2017, the Board acted as the Nomination Committee.

The Board, in nominating and recommending the
appointment of directors to the Board, shall take into
account the requirements of this policy.

e.

In the year under review, female representation on the Board
increased from 25% to 33% and, subsequent to year-end has
improved further to 37.5%.

The Company will report to shareholders in its annual
report on how the Board has considered and applied
the policy of gender diversity in the nomination and
appointment of directors and, if applicable, will also
report on its progress in relation to the voluntary target.

f.

The obligations under this policy are in addition to the
requirements of the B-BBEE Codes.

GENDER EQUITY POLICY
a.

b.

African Phoenix supports the principles and aims of
gender diversity. The Company aims to ensure fairness
in this area of its operation and intends to introduce
measures to ensure that there are no discriminatory
practices, procedures and attitudes based on gender,
either at Board level, within the Company itself or within
its subsidiary. This will be done during the course of the
2018 financial year.
The voluntary gender equity target set by the Board is as
follows:
I. At least 50% of the Board should be made up of
women.

c.

The RNTSE Committee shall annually:
I. Review the voluntary target;
II. Measure actual female representation on the Board
against the voluntary target; and

This policy was recommended by the RNTSE Committee on
20 March 2017 and will be reviewed annually.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS

In line with the charter and annual workplan, the RNTSE
Committee fulfils the functions and responsibilities assigned
to it, to ensure that the Company remains a responsible
corporate citizen.
During the year under review the RNTSE Committee
considered the broad framework of policies and codes of
best practice and has begun the process of developing and
considering the required policies.
The RNTSE Committee has exercised oversight of the ethics
performance of the Company, alongside the other Board
committees and has started developing a Company Code of
Ethics. The RNTSE Committee will be implementing initiatives
once the permanent CEO is appointed to develop a set of
values and a gender sensitisation process to guide conduct.

III. Make recommendations to the Board in regard to
(I) and (II) above.

JSE COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
The corporate and financial governance compliance certificate for the reporting period, which is required in terms of the JSE
Listings Requirements, has been submitted to the JSE.
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SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS as at 30 September 2017
The ordinary shares held in African Phoenix are as follows:
Ordinary shares: Top beneficial owners
Government Employees Pension Fund (PIC)
Value Active PFP H4 QI Hedge Fund
Steyn Capital IDS QI Hedge Fund
Steyn Capital Offshore Hedge Fund
Liberty Life Association of Africa Ltd
Steyn Capital IDS Retail Hedge Fund
H4 Cap Growth Selection Sigma QI Hedge
Allan Gray Optimal Fund
Briarwood Capital Partners LP
Coronation Top 20 Fund

214 017 338
198 775 283
94 205 000
67 565 600
55 817 668
42 121 579
37 655 200
32 839 164
30 067 125
28 172 762

15.00%
13.93%
6.60%
4.73%
3.91%
2.95%
2.64%
2.30%
2.11%
1.97%

269 524 468
216 210 289
213 074 302
114 407 997
79 517 484
54 443 175
51 463 886
30 067 125
25 974 521
22 517 000

18.89%
15.15%
14.93%
8.02%
5.57%
3.82%
3.61%
2.11%
1.82%
1.58%

903 129
888 968
724 049
625 694
582 213
402 612
367 630
356 988
348 509
329 572

6.68%
6.57%
5.35%
4.63%
4.31%
2.98%
2.72%
2.64%
2.58%
2.44%

2 455 450
1 285 726
836 985
724 049
625 694
428 936
427 000
402 612
339 335
317 429

18.16%
9.51%
6.19%
5.35%
4.63%
3.17%
3.16%
2.98%
2.51%
2.35%

Ordinary shares: Top ordinary shareholders / managers
Steyn Capital Management (Pty) Ltd (ZA)
PIC (ZA)
Value Capital Partners (ZA)
Coronation Asset Management (Pty) Ltd (ZA)
STANLIB Asset Management (ZA)
Allan Gray Pty Ltd (ZA)
Peregrine Capital (Pty) Limited (ZA)
Briarwood Chase Management LLC (US)
Dimensional Fund Advisors Inc (US)
International Finance Corporation (US)
The preference shares held in African Phoenix are as follows:
Preference shares: Top beneficial owners
36One Hedge Fund
Steyn Capital IDS QI Hedge Fund
Peregrine Equities (Pty) Limited
Balance & Small Hldgs At Last S56
Steyn Capital Offshore Hedge Fund
Personal Trust SA Equity Fund
H4 Cap Growth Selection Sigma QI Hedge
Steyn Capital IDS Retail Hedge Fund
Balance & Small Hldgs At Last S56
36One BCI Flex Opportunity Fund
Preference shares: Top preference shareholders / managers
Steyn Capital Management (Pty) Ltd
36One Asset Management
STANLIB Asset Management
Peregrine Equities (Pty) Limited
Investec Securities (Pty) Limited
Cadiz Asset Management
Saffron Wealth
Personal Trust International
Nedgroup Private Wealth (Pty) Ltd
Element Investment Management
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL
OF THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated annual financial
statements of African Phoenix Investments Limited, comprising the statement of financial position as at
30 September 2017, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
The directors’ responsibility includes selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The directors are responsible for the systems of internal control. These are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the consolidated annual financial statements, and to
adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets, and to prevent and detect material
misstatement and loss. The systems are implemented and monitored by suitably trained personnel with
appropriate segregation of authority and duties. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate
that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems occurred during
the year under review.
Stangen, the group’s only operating subsidiary, is regulated by the Financial Services Board and has a fully
functioning board and committee structure which is separate from that of Phoenix. The directors, in preparing
and approving the consolidated annual financial statements have inter alia, relied on the work of the Stangen
board and their approval of the annual financial statements of Stangen.
For the reasons set out in note 3.1 (going concern) of the notes to group’s annual financial statements, the
directors have assessed the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and believe it is appropriate that
the annual financial statements are prepared on the going concern assumption.
The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act of South Africa.

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The annual financial statements set out on pages 36 to 111 were approved by the board of directors and
signed on its behalf by:

Morris Mthombeni
Chairman
Illovo
5 December 2017
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John Evans
Financial director

CERTIFICATION BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY
I certify in accordance with the provisions of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act of South Africa, that to
the best of my knowledge and belief, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property
Commission, all returns, and notices prescribed by the Companies Act, in respect of the year ended
30 September 2017 and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

Acorim Proprietary Limited
Company secretary
Hyde Park
5 December 2017

PREPARATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
These consolidated annual financial statements were prepared under the supervision of the Financial Director,
John F Evans CA(Aus); CA(SA) and have been audited in compliance with the applicable requirements of the
Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AFRICAN PHOENIX INVESTMENTS LIMITED
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of African Phoenix Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries (the group) set out on pages 36 to 89, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 September 2017 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the group as at 30 September 2017 and its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA
Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of insurance contracts

Our audit procedures included amongst
others:

We considered the valuation of insurance contract
assets and liabilities to be of significance to the
statement of financial position. The balance
of the insurance liabilities is R128 million as
at the reporting period-end and therefore
material. Specifically actuarial assumptions and
methodologies entails judgements about future
events. In addition, judgement is required in
estimating the IBNR reserves in respect of claims
not yet reported to be settled as well as the
expense reserve.
The group is required to assess the valuation
of insurance contracts in accordance with the
provisions of the Long Term Insurance Act, 1998
and valued in terms of the Financial Soundness
Valuation (FSV) basis in terms of SAP 104 issued
by the Actuarial Society of South Africa. In terms of
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts an insurer shall assess
at the end of each reporting period whether its
recognised insurance liabilities are adequate.
Due to these factors we considered this to be a Key
Audit Matter.
Refer to policyholder liabilities under the accounting
policies pages 48 to 50, as well as notes 16 and 37
to the consolidated financial statements.

• With the assistance of our actuarial experts,
we assessed the valuation methodology and
management’s assumptions for compliance
with the latest actuarial guidance, legislation and
company accounting policies.
• We assessed management’s analysis of
movements in insurance contract liabilities and
obtained evidence to support large and unusual
movements.
• On a sample basis, we tested the data
integrity in the policyholder database to source
documents.
• We performed test checks on reconciliations of
underlying reports to the general ledger.
• We performed procedures over Capital
Adequacy Requirements (CAR) calculations to
ensure that it is in compliance with the relevant
legislation.
We also focused on the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures that is required in terms of IFRS 4 –
Insurance Contracts, as included to notes 16 and
37 of the financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the directors’ report,
the audit committee’s report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act of
South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and the annual report, which is expected
to be made available to us after that date. Other information does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of
South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we
report that Grant Thornton Johannesburg has been the auditor of African Phoenix Investments Limited for
three years.

GRANT THORNTON
Registered auditors
Practice Number: 903485E
S.J. Kock
Partner
Registered auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)
5 December 2017
Grant Thornton
Wanderers Office Park
52 Corlett Drive
Illovo
2196
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT
The committee presents its report for the financial year ended 30 September 2017 as required by
section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”). The committee
has been constituted in accordance with applicable legislation and regulations.

PURPOSE OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The main purpose of the committee, insofar as it relates to audit activity, is to assist the board in discharging
its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, accounting systems and practices, the integrity of internal
financial control processes and the preparation of accurate financial reporting and statements in compliance
with all legal requirements and accounting standards.

MEMBERSHIP AND ATTENDANCE
The committee consists of three independent, non-executive directors. The committee met five times during
the period under review. The annual financial statements were provisionally recommended to the board
at the 29 November 2017 meeting subject to minor changes, and finally approved by the main board on
5 December 2017.

CHANGES AND COMPOSITION
The committee members changed during the year and are as follows:
Morris Mthombeni – stepped down on 19 September 2017 following his appointment as Chairperson
of the Board.
Carmen Le Grange – appointed on 14 June 2017 and appointed as Chairperson of the committee on
19 September 2017.
Nonzukiso Siyotula – appointed on 22 September 2017.
Samuel Sithole – appointed on 22 September 2017 and stepped down on 16 November 2017 due to
membership on other committees.
The audit committee, as at the signing of this report, consists of Carmen Le Grange (Chairperson),
Daniël Vlok and Nonzukiso Siyotula.

FUNCTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE
The committee approved a revised committee charter during the year under review and has discharged its
functions in terms of the charter which included:
• reviewing the annual financial statements to confirm the financial statements are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), the Companies Act and the Listings
Requirements of the JSE Limited;
• reviewing the accounting policies adopted by the group and all proposed changes in accounting policies
and practices;
• reviewing and approving the group’s external audit plan including the proposed audit scope, approach to
company operating risks and the audit fee;
• confirming the independence of the external auditors, Grant Thornton;
• reviewing the external audit reports;
• assessing the nature and extent of non-audit services by the auditors;
• reviewing the group’s compliance plan and assessing the procedures for identifying all risks;
• reviewing the group’s risk management plan and risk management processes; and
• reviewing the legal matters that could have a significant impact on the group’s financial statements.
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INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The committee has satisfied itself that Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership, the external auditor,
and Ms S Kock, the designated auditor, are independent of the company and of the group.
The Audit Committee has reviewed sections 3, 8, 13, 15 and 22 and Schedule 8 of the JSE Listings
Requirements and confirm that based on the amended requirements for the JSE-accreditation of Auditors,
effective 15 October 2017, we are satisfied that:
(i)

the audit firm has met all the criteria stipulated in the requirements, including that the audit regulator
has completed a firm-wide independent quality control (ISQC 1) inspection on the audit firm during its
previous inspection cycle;

(ii)

the auditors have provided to the audit committee, the required IRBA inspection decision letters, findings
report and the proposed remedial action to address the findings, both at the audit firm and the individual
auditor levels; and

(iii) both the audit firm and the individual auditor understand their roles and have the competence, expertise,
experience and skills required to discharge their specific audit and financial reporting responsibilities.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF FINANCIAL DIRECTOR
The company appointed John Evans as Financial Director on 1 October 2016. The committee satisfies itself
on an annual basis as to the competence, expertise, experience and skills of the Financial Director and
confirmed that he has the necessary expertise, experience and skills required.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Due to the size of the company and the nature of operations no internal audit function has been established.
The need for internal audit will be considered and assessed going forward. The Standard General Insurance
Company Limited (Stangen) the group’s only operating subsidiary utilised the services of KPMG as internal
auditors for the period under review.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS, ACCOUNTING PRACTICES AND ANNUAL
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Nothing has come to the attention of the committee which indicates that the group’s system of internal
financial controls and accounting practices, in all material respects, does not provide a basis for reliable
annual financial statements. The committee is satisfied that the group’s annual financial statements are in
compliance, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended
and International Financial Reporting Standards, and recommend the annual financial statements for approval
by the board.

Carmen Le Grange
Chairperson: Audit and risk committee
29 November 2017

African Phoenix INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

31

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report to shareholders, together with the audited group annual financial statements
for the financial year ended 30 September 2017.

NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
Phoenix is a publicly quoted investment holding company listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange
Limited (JSE). Phoenix’s subsidiaries (also refer to Annexure A) are:
Phoenix subsidiaries

Type of Business

Creditsave Proprietary Limited
Customer Protection Insurance Company Limited
Ellerine Holdings Limited
Gilt Edged Management Services Proprietary Limited
Residual Debt Services Limited
The Standard General Insurance Company Limited (Stangen)
Theta Investments Proprietary Limited

Dormant (being deregistered)
Dormant (in liquidation)
Retail (in business rescue)
Dormant
Banking (in curatorship)
Long-term insurance (operational)
Dormant (being deregistered)

The group’s only operating entity is Stangen. Stangen is a registered long-term insurance company in terms
of the Long-Term Insurance Act (Act No. 52 of 1998) and a licenced financial services provider in terms of the
Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act (Act No. 37 of 2002).
Stangen operates and competes as a niche direct life insurer in the South African market and is licenced to
sell assistance, life, disability, health and retrenchment classes of business.
The company commenced business rescue proceedings on 5 June 2015. Following adoption of the business
rescue plan on 18 April 2016 and the successful implementation thereof the business rescue practitioners
filed the requisite notice of substantial implementation on 19 May 2016 and returned control of the company
to its directors.
The suspension on trading in the company’s ordinary and preference shares was lifted on 1 February 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL
ORDINARY SHARES
The company’s authorised share capital is 2 000 000 000 shares of 2.5 cents each.
At 30 September 2017, the issued ordinary share capital totalled 1 427 005 272 (2016: 1 427 005 272)
shares of 2.5 cents each.
During the previous financial year, Hlumisa Investment Holdings (RF) Limited reached agreement with the
company in terms of which it returned 25 911 800 shares to the company. These shares were cancelled in
the current financial year.
During the previous financial year, Eyomhlaba Investment Holdings (RF) Limited reached agreement with the
company in terms of which it returned 48 176 160 shares to the company. These shares were cancelled in
the current financial year.
A total of 74 087 960 shares were cancelled on 5 April 2017 (2016: 74 087 960 to be cancelled).
PREFERENCE SHARES
The authorised preference share capital remains unchanged at 20 000 000 shares of 1 cent each.
No preference shares were issued during the current or previous financial year.
The issued preference share capital at 30 September 2017 totalled 13 523 029 (2016: 13 523 029) shares of
1 cent each.
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GOING CONCERN
The directors consider that the group has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future
and therefore deem it appropriate to adopt the going-concern basis in preparing the group’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 30 September 2017 (Refer to 3.1 below).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The directors are not aware of any material events occurring between the reporting date and the date of
authorisation of these consolidated financial statements as defined in IAS 10 – Events after the reporting
period.

DIRECTORS AND CHANGES IN DIRECTORS
The following directors resigned or retired during the 2016 and 2017 financial years:
• M Mogase resigned as a director on 6 September 2016;
• RJ Symmonds retired as a director at the annual general meeting held on 6 September 2016;
• N Adams retired as a director at the annual general meeting held on 6 September 2016;
• N Langa-Royds retired as a director at the annual general meeting held on 6 September 2016;
• Adv. M Gumbi retired as a director at the annual general meeting held on 6 September 2016;
• Peter Mountford resigned as a director on 19 July 2017; and
• Isaac Shongwe resigned as a director on 31 July 2017.
PHOENIX BOARD OF DIRECTORS
At 30 September 2017, the following were the board of directors:
Director

Designation

Appointment date

Morris Mthombeni

Independent non-executive Chairperson

16 September 2013

Enos Banda

Chief Executive Officer

6 September 2016

John Evans

Financial Director

1 October 2016

Daniël Vlok

Independent non-executive director

6 September 2016

Alethea Conrad

Independent non-executive director

6 September 2016

Carmen Le Grange

Independent non-executive director

28 March 2017

Samuel Sithole

Non-executive director

22 September 2017

Nonzukiso Siyotula

Independent non-executive director

22 September 2017

Oyama Mabandla

Independent non-executive director

22 September 2017

Enos Banda was appointed as non-executive chairman on 6 September 2016, Executive Chairman on
1 October 2016 and subsequently Chief Executive Officer on 14 December 2016; Enos’ term as Chief
Executive Officer ended on 30 November 2017. Enos will remain on the board as a non-executive director.
Isaac Shongwe was appointed as lead independent non-executive director on 31 October 2016 and
subsequently Chairman on 14 December 2016. Isaac resigned on 31 July 2017.
Morris Mthombeni was appointed as Acting Chairman on 31 July 2017 and subsequently Chairman of the
board on 25 August 2017.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued
COMPANY SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE
The company secretary role is performed by Acorim Proprietary Limited.
Their business address is: 2nd floor North Wing, Hyde Park Corner Office Towers, Corner 6th Road and
Jan Smuts Avenue. Their postal address is: P.O. Box 41480, Craighall, 2024.
The board considered and is satisfied with the competence, qualifications and performance of the company
secretary. The board confirms that the company secretary is independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES
The directors’ and former directors’ direct and indirect interests in the issued share capital of the company are
set out in the following table. All the shares are held beneficially.
There has been no material change in the interest of directors in the ordinary and preference issued share
capital of the company between 30 September 2017 and the date of this report.
INTEREST OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY DIRECTLY AND INDIRECTLY IN THE SHARES OF
PHOENIX
2017
Name

2016

Direct

Indirect

Total

Direct

Indirect

Total

9 269

–

9 269

–

–

–

Ordinary shares

Executive Directors
Enos Banda

Non-executive directors
Past directors*

Ordinary shares
Nic Adams

3 680

1 708 177

1 711 857

–

–

–

3 862

–

3 862

Subtotal

9 269

–

9 269

7 542

1 708 177

1 715 719

Total ordinary shares

9 269

–

9 269

7 542

1 708 177

1 715 719

–

Johnny Symmonds

–

–

* The shareholding of past directors is as at the date of resignation. The directors are not aware of changes in shareholding
by directors after their resignation.

INTEREST OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN TRANSACTIONS
During the financial year no material contracts were entered into in which directors and officers of the
company had an interest and which significantly affected the business of the company or subsidiaries. The
directors had no interest in any third party or company responsible for managing any of the business activities
of the company or subsidiaries.
INDEMNITY INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
As permitted by the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the company has, by way of directors and
officers insurance, granted indemnities to the directors and company secretary, in relation to certain losses
and liabilities which they may incur in the course of acting as directors or officers of the company or of one
or more of its subsidiaries. The board believes that it is in the best interest of the company to attract and
retain the services of the most able and experienced directors and officers by offering competitive terms of
engagement, including the granting of indemnities on terms consistent with legislation and best practice.
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AUDITORS
The group’s auditor is Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership and the designated audit partner is
Soné Kock. Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership was appointed as auditor on 24 August 2015.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared during the period under review.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The directors’ emoluments are set out in note 40.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS: PHOENIX
The following special resolutions were passed at the AGM of Phoenix:
• Approval of the non-executive directors’ remuneration.
• Loans or other financial assistance to related and inter-related entities.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS: STANGEN
The following special resolutions were passed at the AGM of The Standard General Insurance Company
Limited (Stangen):
• The remuneration of the non-executive directors of Stangen was approved.
• Approval was given to the board of Stangen to provide financial assistance in terms of Section 45 of the
Companies Act.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
as at 30 September 2017
R million

Notes

2017

2016

Intangible assets

5

–

Equipment

6

13

Financial assets

7

Other assets

8

Reinsurance assets

9

Assets

Taxation
Deferred tax asset

15

Cash and cash equivalents

10

Disposal group

14

Total assets
Equity and liabilities

1

101

60

1

1

1 881

1 833

–

267

2 018

2 162

14 650

14 650

–

1

–
–
–

Ordinary share capital and share premium

11

Reserves

13

(13 954)

12

1 130

1 130

1 826

1 640

–

–

Ordinary shareholders’ equity
Preference shareholders’ equity
Total equity (capital and reserves)
Deferred tax liability

15

Taxation
Policyholders’ liabilities under insurance contracts

16

Borrowings

17

Reinsurance creditor

18

Other liabilities

19

Disposal group

14

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Net asset value per ordinary share (NAV)
Tangible net asset value per ordinary share (TNAV)
Number of shares in issue (million)
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696

3

(14 140)
510

1

128

191

–

–

23

23

38

40

–

267

192

522

2 018

2 162

48.8

35.7

47.9

35.7

1 427

1 427

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 September 2017
R million

Notes

2017

2016

Insurance premium and reinsurance income

20

86

Investment income

21

64

Other income

22

Continuing operations

Net income

Insurance claims

23

Operating and administration expenses

24

Reversal of impairment / (impairment) of financial instruments
Profit / (loss) before taxation from continuing operations
Taxation

Profit / (loss) for the year from continuing operations
(Loss) / profit for the year from discontinuing operations

25
14

140

114

47

–

251

200

38

(203)

46

(9)

242

(103)

(47)

7

195

(96)

(93)

(91)

(9)

587

Profit for the year

186

491

–

–

Total comprehensive income for the year

186

491

13.7

(6.5)

Other comprehensive income

Basic earnings / (loss) per share – continuing operations

26

Basic (loss) / earnings per share – discontinuing operations

26

Basic earnings per share

26

(0.6)

39.5

13.0

33.0
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
EQUITY
for the year ended 30 September 2017

R million
Balance at 30 September 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 September 2016
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 September 2017
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Ordinary
Preference
share capital Accumulated share capital
and premium
loss and premium

Total

14 650

(14 631)

1 130

1 149

–

491

–

491

14 650

(14 140)

1 130

1 640

–

186

–

186

14 650

(13 954)

1 130

1 826

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 September 2017

R million

Notes

2017

2016

Cash inflow / (outflow) from continuing operations

28

131

(119)

Cash receipts from policyholders and investments

29

650

Cash paid to policyholders, suppliers and employees

30

251

(120)

(769)

Direct taxation paid

31

(43)

(263)

88

(382)

(12)

492

76

110

(28)

(2)

–

(2)

(20)

–

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from continuing operating
activities

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from discontinuing operating
activities

14

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing in continuing operation
activities
Acquisition of equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets

(14)

–

6

–

Cash flows from investing in discontinuing operation
activities

–

(191)

Net payment made on reinsurance transaction

–

(191)

Net cash outflow from investing activities

(28)

(193)

–

(451)

–

(451)

48

(534)

Investment in Different Life
Decrease in other assets

Cash outflow from funding operations

Net cash outflow from financing continuing activities
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

10

1 833

2 367

1 881

1 833
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NOTES TO
Notes
to THE
the CONSOLIDATED
Consolidated
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2017

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
African Phoenix Investments Limited (“Phoenix”) is a listed company incorporated in the Republic
of South Africa. The company is the ultimate holding company of The Standard General Insurance
Company Limited (Stangen) and of a number of non-trading entities.
The principal activities of the group are disclosed in the directors’ report.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
2.1

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AFFECTING AMOUNTS REPORTED IN THE CURRENT YEAR
The new standards and interpretations that came into effect during the current year are listed
below as part of the new and revised IFRSs in issue.
The standards were adopted in the current year, but none were material to the financial
statements.
IFRS effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 (applicable to the annual
financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2017)
IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

IFRS 5

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations
Annual Improvements 2012–2014 cycle:
Amendments clarifying that a change in the
manner of disposal of a non-current asset
or disposal group held for sale is considered
to be a continuation of the original plan
of disposal, and accordingly, the date of
classification as held for sale does not
change.

IFRS 7
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Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Annual Improvements 2012–2014 cycle:
Amendment clarifying under what
circumstances an entity will have continuing
involvement in a transferred financial asset
as a result of servicing contracts.
Annual Improvements 2012–2014 cycle:
Amendment clarifying the applicability of
previous amendments to IFRS 7 issued in
December 2011 with regard to offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities in
relation to interim financial statements
prepared under IAS 34.

African Phoenix INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Expected impact

The group adopted the
amendments to the
standard (additional
disclosure requirements)
during its current financial
year.
Effective date of the
standard was for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.
The group adopted the
amendments to the
standard (additional
disclosure requirements)
during its current financial
year.
Effective date of the
standard was for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
2.1

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AFFECTING AMOUNTS REPORTED IN THE CURRENT YEAR
continued
IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

Expected impact

IAS 1

Presentation of financial statements
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments designed
to encourage entities to apply professional
judgement in determining what information
to disclose in their financial statements.
For example, the amendments make clear
that materiality applies to the whole of
financial statements and that the inclusion
of immaterial information can inhibit
the usefulness of financial disclosures.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
entities should use professional judgement
in determining where and in what order
information is presented in the financial
disclosures.

IAS 16

Property, Plant and Equipment
• Amendments to both IAS 16 and IAS 38
establishing the principle for the basis of
depreciation and amortisation as being
the expected pattern of consumption
of the future economic benefits of an
assets. Clarifying that revenue is generally
presumed to be an inappropriate basis
for measuring the consumption of
economic benefits in such assets.
• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 which
defines bearer plants and includes bearer
plants in the scope of IAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment, rather than IAS 41,
allowing such assets to be accounted for
after initial recognition in accordance with
IAS 16.

IAS 34

Interim financial reporting
Annual improvements 2012–2014 cycle:
Clarification of the meaning of disclosure of
information ‘elsewhere in the interim financial
report’.

The group adopted the
amendments to the
standard (additional
disclosure requirements)
during its current financial
year.
Effective date of the
standard was for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.

The group adopted the
amendments to the
standard (which had an
immaterial impact) during its
current financial year.
Effective date of the
standard was for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.

The group adopted the
amendments to the
standard during its interim
reporting period.
Effective date of the
standard was for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Annual Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2017

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
2.1

2.2

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs AFFECTING AMOUNTS REPORTED IN THE CURRENT YEAR
continued
IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

IAS 38

Intangible Assets
• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 to
clarify the basis for the calculation of
depreciation and amortisation, as being
the expected pattern of consumption of
the future economic benefits of an asset.
• Amendments to both IAS 16 and IAS 38
establishing the principle for the basis of
depreciation and amortisation as being
the expected pattern of consumption
of the future economic benefits of an
asset. Clarifying that revenue is generally
presumed to be an inappropriate basis
for measuring the consumption of
economic benefits in such assets.

Expected impact
The group adopted the
amendments to the
standard (which had an
immaterial impact) during its
current financial year.
Effective date of the
standard was for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016.

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but with
a future effective date.
IFRS effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 (applicable to the
annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2018)
IAS 7

Statement of cash flows
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments requiring
entities to disclose information about
changes in their financing liabilities. The
additional disclosures will help investors to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including changes from
cash flows and non cash flow changes (such
as foreign exchange gains and losses.

The group will comply with
the disclosure requirements
when the standard
becomes effective.
Effective date of the
standard is for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017.

IFRS effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 (applicable to the
annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2019)
IFRS 4
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Insurance contracts
Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.
Two amendments to IFRS 4 to address the
interaction between IFRS 4 and IFRS 9:
• A temporary exemption from IFRS 9
has been granted to insurers that meet
specified criteria; and
• An optional accounting policy choice has
been introduced to allow an insurer to
apply the overlay approach to designated
financial assets when it first applies
IFRS 9.
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The group will comply with
the amendments to the
standard when the standard
becomes effective – the
impact will be immaterial.
Effective date of the
standard is for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
2.2

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE continued
IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

Expected impact

IFRS 15

Revenue contracts from customers
• The new standard that requires entities
to recognise revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. This core
principle is achieved through a fivestep methodology that is required to be
applied to all contracts with customers.
• The new standard will also result in
enhanced disclosures about revenue,
provide guidance for transactions
that were not previously addressed
comprehensively and improve guidance
for multiple-element arrangements.
• The new standard supersedes:
–– IAS 11 Construction Contracts;
–– IAS 18 Revenue;
–– IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty
Programmes;
–– IFRIC 15 Agreements for the
Construction of Real Estate;
–– IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from
Customers;
–– SIC-13 Revenue – Barter transactions
involving advertising service.

The group will comply
with the standard when
the standard becomes
effective – the impact will be
immaterial.
Effective date of the
standard is for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Annual Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2017

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
2.2

44

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE continued
IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments
A final version of IFRS 9 has been issued
which replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. The
completed standard comprises guidance on
Classification and Measurement, Impairment
Hedge Accounting and Derecognition.
• IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to the
classification of financial assets, which
is driven by the business model in which
the asset is held and their cash flow
characteristics. A new business model
was introduced which does allow certain
financial assets to be categorised as
“fair value through other comprehensive
income” in certain circumstances. The
requirements for financial liabilities are
mostly carried forward unchanged from
IAS 39. However, some changes were
made to the fair value option for financial
liabilities to address the issue of own
credit risk.
• The new model introduces a single
impairment model being applied to
all financial instruments, as well as an
“expected credit loss” model for the
measurement of financial assets.
• IFRS 9 contains a new model for hedge
accounting that aligns the accounting
treatment with the risk management
activities of an entity, in addition
enhanced disclosures will provide better
information about risk management and
the effect of hedge accounting on the
financial statements.
• IFRS 9 carries forward the derecognition
requirements of financial assets and
liabilities from IAS 39.
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Expected impact
The group will comply
with the standard when
the standard becomes
effective – the impact of the
standard has not yet been
determined.
Effective date of the
standard is for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
2.2

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE continued
IFRS effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 (applicable to the
annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2020)
IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

Expected impact

IFRS 16

Leases
New standard that introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee
to recognise assets and liabilities for all
leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset is of low value.
A lessee is required to recognise a right-ofuse asset representing its right to use the
underlying leased asset and a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease
payments. A lessee measures right-of-use
assets similarly to other non-financial assets
(such as property, plant and equipment)
and lease liabilities similarly to other financial
liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee
recognises depreciation of the right-of-use
asset and interest on the lease liability, and
also classifies cash repayments of the lease
liability into a principal portion and an interest
portion and presents them in the statement
of cash flows applying IAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows.
• IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure
requirements for lessees. Lessees will
need to apply judgement in deciding
upon the information to disclose to
meet the objective of providing a basis
for users of financial statements to
assess the effect that leases have on the
financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of the lessee.
• IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the
lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify
its leases as operating leases or finance
leases, and to account for those two
types of leases differently.
• IFRS 16 also requires enhanced
disclosures to be provided by lessors that
will improve information disclosed about
a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to
residual value risk.

The group will comply with
the standard when the
standard becomes effective
– the impact of the standard
is not expected to be
material.
Effective date of the
standard is for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019.
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
2.2

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE continued
IFRS effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 (applicable to the
annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2022)
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IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

IFRS 17

Insurance contracts
The new standard combines current
measurement of the future cash flows with
the recognition of profit over the period
that services are provided under the
contract; presents insurance service results
(including presentation of insurance revenue)
separately from insurance finance income
or expenses; and requires an entity to make
an accounting policy choice of whether to
recognise all insurance finance income or
expenses in profit or loss or to recognise
some of that income or expenses in other
comprehensive income.
The key principles are that an entity:
• identifies as insurance contracts those
contracts under which the entity accepts
significant insurance risk from another
party (the policyholder) by agreeing
to compensate the policyholder if a
specified uncertain future event (the
insured event) adversely affects the
policyholder;
• separates specified embedded
derivatives, distinct investment
components and distinct performance
obligations from the insurance contracts;
• divides the contracts into groups that it
will recognise and measure;
• recognises and measures groups of
insurance contracts at:
i. a risk-adjusted present value of
the future cash flows (the fulfilment
cash flows) that incorporates all of
the available information about the
fulfilment cash flows in a way that is
consistent with observable market
information; plus (if this value is a
liability) or minus (if this value is an
asset);
ii. an amount representing the unearned
profit in the group of contracts (the
contractual service margin);
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Expected impact
The group will comply
with the standard when
the standard becomes
effective – the impact of the
standard has not yet been
determined.
Effective date of the
standard is for annual
periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS continued
2.2

3.

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE continued
IFRS/IAS/IFRIC

Title and details

Expected impact

IFRS 17
continued

• recognises the profit from a group of
insurance contracts over the period the
entity provides insurance cover, and as
the entity is released from risk. If a group
of contracts is or becomes loss-making,
an entity recognises the loss immediately;
• presents separately insurance revenue
(that excludes the receipt of any
investment component), insurance
service expenses (that excludes
the repayment of any investment
components) and insurance finance
income or expenses; and
• discloses information to enable users of
financial statements to assess the effect
that that contracts within the scope of
IFRS 17 have on the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of
an entity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
The following are the critical judgements and key estimation uncertainties that management have made
in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
3.1

GOING CONCERN
As stated in the directors’ responsibility section on page 24, the consolidated annual financial
statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal
course of business.
In performing the going concern assessment, the directors have considered available information
about the future, the possible outcomes of events and the changes in conditions and the
realistically possible responses to such events and conditions that would be available to the
directors.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued
3.1

GOING CONCERN continued
The directors have also considered the following specific factors in determining whether the group
is a going concern:
• The group has sufficient cash resources to pay its creditors as and when they fall due and
meet its operating costs for the ensuing 12 months;
• The company’s only operating subsidiary, Stangen, is a going concern;
• The group has available cash resources to deploy in developing existing operations or investing
in new opportunities;
• The board and management are not aware of any significant pending legislation that will
threaten the going concern status of the group; and
• It is management’s view that sufficient risk mitigants are in place for key financial risks facing
the group in the new financial year.
The going concern assessment is a matter of judgement. In making this judgement, the directors
have considered the uncertainties arising from their assessment, both individually and collectively.
Based on the above, the directors consider the preparation of the consolidated annual financial
statements on a going concern basis as appropriate given that the group is able to realise its
assets and settle its commitments in the normal course of business for a period of not less than
one year from the date of approval of these annual financial statements.

3.2

THE ULTIMATE LIABILITY ARISING FROM BENEFIT PAYMENTS UNDER INSURANCE
CONTRACTS
The determination of the liabilities under long-term insurance contracts is dependent on the
estimates made by the group. Policyholders’ liabilities under long-term insurance contracts are
comprised of the claims reported, assessed but not settled at the reporting date, the claims
related to the events which might have taken place on or before the reporting date, but were not
communicated to the insurer on the reporting date, as well as of the estimates of the net present
value of future claims and benefits under existing contracts, offset by probable future premiums to
be received or paid (net of expected service costs).
The liability for long-term insurance contracts is based on the assumptions reflecting the best
estimate at the valuation date increased with a margin for risk and adverse deviation. The main
assumptions used relate to mortality, morbidity, lapse rates, expenses, discount rates, and taxes.
Herewith a brief overview of the process used to decide on assumptions and changes in
assumptions:
Mortality and morbidity rates
Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, according to the type of
contract written and the country/area in which the insured person resides. They reflect recent
historical experience and are adjusted when appropriate to reflect the group’s own experiences.
An appropriate, but not excessive prudent allowance is made for expected future improvements.
Assumptions are differentiated by sex, underwriting class and contract type.
An increase in rates will lead to a larger number of claims (and claims could occur sooner than
anticipated), which will reduce profits for shareholders.
Investigations into mortality experience are performed annually for all classes of business. The
results of the investigation are used to set the valuation assumptions, which are applied as an
adjustment to the respective base tables.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued
3.2

THE ULTIMATE LIABILITY ARISING FROM BENEFIT PAYMENTS UNDER INSURANCE
CONTRACTS continued
In setting the assumptions, provision is made for the expected increase in AIDS-related claims.
Allowance for AIDS-related deaths is made on the base mortality rates at rates consistent with the
requirements of APN 105 issued by the Actuarial Society of South Africa (ASSA).
Lapse rates
The lapse rate assumptions are based on the most recent experience as well as on the expected
future trends. The actual lapse rates are compared to the previously projected rates annually and
the assumptions are adjusted if necessary. The lapse rates are analysed by product type and
policy duration.
Expenses
An expense analysis is performed on the actual expenses incurred in the financial year preceding
the reporting date. The budgets approved by the relevant boards are also used to determine
future per policy expense.
Discount rates
The discount rate reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability in question.
Tax
No allowance has been made for tax as the policyholder fund is in an excess of E situation and
consequently not expected to pay tax in the fund.
The determination of the liabilities under long-term insurance contracts is dependent on estimates
made by the statutory actuary. Estimates are made as to the expected number of deaths for each
of the years for which the company is exposed to risk. These estimates are based on standard
industry and national mortality tables that reflect recent historical mortality experience, adjusted
where appropriate to reflect Stangen’s own experience.
Future benefit payments are estimated as outlined in note 16. Where future premiums are payable,
they have also been valued based on the expected premium to be paid. Future premiums are
projected over the lifetime of each policy on a policy-by-policy basis. The value of the premiums
takes into account the possibility that the policy may terminate early through lapsing or maturity.
The interest rate used to discount the premiums reflect current economic conditions and the asset
mix of Stangen.
Insurance risks are unpredictable, and the group recognises that it is not always possible to
forecast, with absolute precision, future claims payable under existing insurance contracts. Over
time, the group has developed a methodology that is aimed at establishing insurance provisions
that have an above average likelihood of being adequate to settle all its insurance obligations.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued
3.3

IAR AND IBNR
3.3.1

Incurred and Reported claims (IAR)
Claims provisions are determined based upon previous claims experience, knowledge
of events, the terms and conditions of the relevant policies and on the interpretation of
circumstances. Each notified claim is assessed on a separate case-by-case basis with
due regard to the specific circumstances, information available from the insured and past
experience with similar cases and historical claims payment trends.
The approach also includes the consideration of the development of claims payments
trends, the levels of unpaid claims, legislative changes, judicial decisions and economic
conditions. The group employs individuals experienced in claims handling and applies
standardised policies and procedures to claims assessment.
The ultimate cost of reported claims may vary as a result of future developments or
better information becoming available about the current circumstances. Therefore, case
estimates are reviewed regularly and updated when new information becomes available.
The provision for outstanding claims is initially estimated at a gross level. A separate
calculation is carried out to estimate reinsurance recoveries.

3.3.2

Incurred But Not Reported claims (IBNR)
The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the
estimation of the cost of settling the claims already notified to the group, where information
about the claim event is available. The appropriate estimation technique is selected,
taking into account the characteristics of the various portfolios and the extent of the
developments in each reporting period.

3.4

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by
using valuation techniques. The group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Quoted market prices
or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such
as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments. The carrying value less impairment provision of other receivables and payables are
assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that is available to the company for similar financial instruments.
The main assumptions and estimates which management considers when applying valuation
techniques are:
• the likelihood and expected timing of future cash flows on the instrument. These cash flows
are usually governed by the terms of the instrument, although management judgement may be
required when the ability of the counterparty to service the instrument in accordance with the
contractual terms, is in doubt. Future cash flows may be sensitive to changes in market rates;
• selecting an appropriate discount rate for the instrument. Management bases the
determination of this rate on its assessment of what a market participant would regard as an
appropriate risk premium for the instrument over the appropriate risk-free rate; and
• judgement to determine what model to use to calculate fair value in areas where the choice
of valuation model is particularly subjective, for example, when valuing complex derivative
products.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued
3.5

CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of
legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
Deferred tax is provided for on the fair value adjustments of assets based on the expected manner
of recovery, i.e. sale or use. This manner of recovery affects the rate used to determine the
deferred tax liability or asset.
The group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing
the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires the group to make significant estimates related to
expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast
from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that
future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the group to
realise the deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.
The significant accounting policies set out below have been applied in the preparation and
presentation of the group’s financial statements in dealing with items that are considered material
during this reporting period.

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.1

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with, and comply with, the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued
by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by
the Financial Reporting Standard Council and the requirements of the Companies Act (Act 71 of
2008), as amended.

4.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the going concern
principle and using a historical cost basis, except where specifically indicated otherwise in the
accounting policies.
The group statement of financial position is presented in order of liquidity with the exception of
certain long-term liabilities which reflect the original time frame and intention of the instrument
entered into. Reference to the current maturities of these financial liabilities is disclosed in the
notes and in the analysis of financial liabilities.
The group financial statements are presented in South African rand, which is the group’s functional
currency. All monetary information and figures have been rounded to the nearest million rand
(R million), unless otherwise stated. The accounting policies and their application are consistent
with the previous year.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
4.3

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The group’s financial statements incorporate the financials of the company and the entities
controlled by the company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the company is exposed,
or has the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Since the previous year-end, there were no changes in the status of the company’s investments
in Residual Debt Services Limited (formerly African Bank Limited) (“RDS”) which is still under
curatorship. There was also no change in the status of the company’s investment in Ellerine
Holdings Limited, which is still in business rescue. Both investments were impaired in full in
previous financial periods.
As such, their results are not incorporated into these financial statements.

4.4

INTANGIBLE ASSETS – SOFTWARE
Software consists of purchased software. Software acquired by the group is measured at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation
Software is amortised on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over its estimated useful life, from the
date that it is available for use.
Useful life
The estimated useful life of software is four years. Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

4.5

EQUIPMENT
Computer equipment and office equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairments.
Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to profit and loss on a straight-line basis and is calculated to reduce the
original costs to the expected residual values over the estimated useful lives.
Useful life
Useful lives and residual values are assessed on an annual basis. Useful lives have been
determined to be as follows:
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Computer equipment			

4 years

Office equipment			

4 years
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
4.6

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher amount of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. Fair value less costs to sell is determined by
ascertaining the current market value of an asset and deducting any costs related to the realisation
of the asset.
In assessing the value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the assets. For purposes of assessing impairment, assets
that cannot be tested individually are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows from continuing use.

4.7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset in one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument in another entity.
Financial instruments, as reflected on the statement of financial position, include all financial
assets, financial liabilities held for investment, trading or liquidity purposes, but exclude employee
benefit plans, equipment, intangible assets, taxation payable, deferred tax assets and liabilities,
and assets and liabilities arising from insurance contracts.
Financial instruments are accounted for under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation,
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures and IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
4.7.1

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• loans and receivables; and
• available for sale held at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Financial liabilities are classified into the following categories:
• financial liabilities at amortised cost.
The classification of financial assets and financial liabilities depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial instrument and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

4.7.2

Initial recognition
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument.

4.7.3

Initial measurement
All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, except
those carried at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are recognised
immediately through profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
4.7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
4.7.4

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial measurement, financial instruments are either measured at fair value
or amortised cost, depending on their classification:
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than those designated by the
group as at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale.
Trade receivables and other receivables that are not held for trading purposes and have
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as
loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, less any allowance for impairment losses.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets consist of an investment in an unlisted entity that the group has elected to
account for at the date of initial recognition as at fair value through other comprehensive
income.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
All financial liabilities, are measured at amortised cost.
4.7.4.1

Fair value
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability the company takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing
transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the
fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
• level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can access at measurement date;
• level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1, that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
• level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition
is the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the consideration paid or received.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable are included in the initial fair value
of financial assets and financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
4.7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
4.7.4

Subsequent measurement continued
4.7.4.1

Fair value continued
Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair values of financial assets and liabilities
are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations for financial
instruments traded in active markets. These include the use of recent arm’slength transactions, discounted cash flow analyses, pricing models and
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.
Where discounted cash flow analyses are used, estimated future cash flows
are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a marketrelated rate at the reporting date for a financial asset with similar terms and
conditions.

4.7.5

Impairment of financial instruments
The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an
asset or group of assets is impaired.

4.8

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of fixed and notice deposits as well as call and current
accounts with financial institutions.

4.9

INSURANCE CONTRACTS
Classification of contracts
Contracts under which the group accepts significant insurance risks from the policyholder, by
agreeing to compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event
affects the policyholder or other beneficiary are classified as insurance contracts.
Recognition and measurement
Funeral contracts are offered on a whole of life-basis covering death. The amount paid upon claim
is set at the outset of the contract and remains constant throughout the term of the contract.
Crime injury products provides cover in the event of the murder of an assured life or upon the
occurrence of a crime event which results in the temporary or permanent disability or an assured
life; and the personal accident provided cover and benefits in the event of the accidental death
or accidental disability which results in the permanent and temporary disability of a policyholder.
The policy provides term cover in respect of the assured lives, meaning that the cover will cease
at the end of a specified term. Personal accident products provide cover for accidental death and
accidental disability.
Fully underwritten contracts are offered on a whole life basis covering death and/or disability. The
amount paid upon a claim is set at the outset of the contract and remains constant throughout the
term of the contract.
Policyholder liabilities under insurance contracts
All policyholder contracts that transfer significant insurance risk are classified as insurance
contracts.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
4.9

INSURANCE CONTRACTS continued
These contracts are computed annually at the statement of financial position date by Stangen’s
statutory actuary, in accordance with the provisions of the Long-Term Insurance Act, 1998 and
valued in terms of the Financial Soundness Valuation (FSV) basis contained in SAP 104 issued by
the Actuarial Society of South Africa and represents the group’s total policyholder liabilities. Claims
incurred prior to the end of the financial year, but not reported until after that date, are brought into
account in the valuation of policyholder liabilities.
The transfer to policyholder liabilities under insurance contracts reflected in the statement of
comprehensive income is a result of the changes in actuarial liabilities.
Policyholder’s benefits
Provision is made for the estimated cost of claims notified, but not settled, at the end of the
financial year, using the best information available at the time. Claims payable include related
internal and external claims handling costs. Claims are stated net of reinsurance recoveries.
Liability adequacy test
At each end of the reporting period, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy
of the insurance contracts liabilities. Long-term insurance liability is valued in terms of the Financial
Soundness Valuation (FSV) basis. Under the FSV basis, a liability is determined as the sum of
the current estimate of the expected discounted value of all the benefit payments and the future
administration expenses that are directly related to the contract, less the current estimate of the
expected discounted value of the contractual premiums.
The liability is based on assumptions as to mortality, morbidity, persistency and maintenance
expenses that are established at the time of valuing the contract at each reporting date. Margins
for adverse deviations are included in the assumptions.
Assumptions used for valuing policyholder liabilities are based on best estimates of future
experiences, guided by recent past experience and increased by margins prescribed by the
Actuarial Society of South Africa for prudence.
If the liability adequacy test shows that the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities is
inadequate in the light of the estimated future cash flows, the entire deficiency is recognised in
profit or loss.

4.10 PROVISIONS
Provisions represent liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are measured as the expenditure
or cash outflow required to settle the present obligation.
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a
result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made for the
amount of the obligation.
4.11 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Premium income
The group reflects premium income relating to insurance business gross of reinsurance and is
accounted for when the premiums become due.
4.12 INVESTMENT INCOME
Interest income is accrued on a yield to maturity basis by reference to the principal outstanding
and the interest rate applicable.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
4.13 OTHER FEE INCOME
Administration fees received are recognised as the service is rendered.
4.14 REINSURANCE PREMIUMS
Reinsurance premiums are recognised when due for payment.
4.15 REINSURANCE RECOVERIES
Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the related claim.
4.16 BINDER FEES
Binder fees to binder holders are expensed as incurred.
4.17 TAXATION
4.17.1 Direct taxation
Direct taxation in profit or loss consists of South African corporate income tax (currently
payable, prior year adjustments and deferred).
Current taxation is the expected taxation payable based on the taxable income, inclusive
of capital gains, for the year, using taxation rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to taxation payable in respect of
previous years. Taxable income is determined by adjusting the profit before taxation for
items which are non-taxable or disallowed in terms of tax legislation.
Taxation in respect of the group is determined using the five-fund method applicable to life
insurance companies in terms of the Income Tax Act.
Current tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items charged or credited directly to the statement of changes in equity, in which case the
tax is also dealt with in equity.
4.17.2 Deferred taxation
Deferred income taxation is provided on temporary differences using the balance sheet
liability method. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their taxation base. However,
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting profit or loss nor taxable income.
Deferred tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale investments, which
are charged or credited to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, is also
credited or charged to other comprehensive income and is subsequently recognised in
profit or loss together with the deferred gain or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised on the tax effects of income tax losses available for
carry-forward, if the group considers it probable that future taxable income will be available
against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred
tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
4.17 TAXATION continued
4.17.2 Deferred taxation continued
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right
exists to set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the
deferred income taxes relate to the taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
4.18 DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
Defined contribution plans have been established for eligible employees of the group, with the
assets held in separate trustee administered funds. The group pays contributions on a contractual
basis as determined in terms of the rules of each benefit fund. The group has no further legal or
constructive obligations to pay any further contributions or benefits once the fixed contributions
have been paid to the funds.
Contributions in respect of defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as they are incurred.
4.19 SHORT-TERM BENEFITS
Short-term benefits consist of salaries, compensated balances (such as annual leave), bonuses
and non-monetary benefits such as medical aid contributions.
Short-term benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans or
accumulated leave if the group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
4.20 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Classification as discontinued operation occurs on disposal or when the operation meets
the criteria to be classified as held for sale. When an operation is classified as a discontinued
operation, the comparative statement of comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation
had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.
4.21 SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of an entity which engages in business activities from
which it earns revenue and incurs expenses, for which separate financial information is available
and whose operating results are regularly reported internally and evaluated by the chief operating
decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing its performance. The
operating segments of the group are the insurance which has been separated between credit life
(discontinued operation) and funeral and other products (continued operation) and corporate.
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5.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R million
Value of in-force reinsurance business acquired
Computer software

Value of in-force reinsurance business acquired
Cost

Accumulated amortisation
Carrying value at end of year

2017

2016

–

–

13

*

13

*

–

37

–

(37)

–

–

–

29

Reconciliation of carrying value and impairment
Value of in-force reinsurance business acquired
Balance at beginning of the year
Amortisation
Loss on transfer of business
Carrying value at end of the year

–

(15)

–

(14)

–

–

The group carried an intangible asset representing the present value of in-force future reinsurance
premiums due to the cancellation of the reinsurance agreement with Relyant Life Assurance Company
Limited and on 1 April 2016 the intangible asset was fully amortised due to the group reinsuring
100 percent of the remaining credit life portfolio with Guardrisk.
The reinsurance agreement with Guardrisk was terminated on 30 June 2017, being the operative date of
the legal transfer of the run-down credit life book to Guardrisk.
R million
Software
Cost

Accumulated amortisation
Carrying value at end of year

2017

2016

17

3

(4)

(3)

13

*

*

1

(1)

(1)

Reconciliation of carrying value
Software

Balance at beginning of the year
Additions
Amortisation
Carrying value at end of year

14

13

–

*

* Amount below R0.5 million

Computer software is written off over a four-year period on a straight-line basis. The remaining useful life
of computer software is considered to be three years.
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6.

EQUIPMENT
R million

2017

2016

Cost

4

4

Computer equipment

2

2

Office equipment

2

2

Accumulated depreciation

3

3

Computer equipment

2

Office equipment

2

1

1

Closing carrying value

1

1

Computer equipment
Office equipment

*

1

*
1

Reconciliation of carrying value
Computer equipment

Balance at beginning of the year
Additions
Depreciation
Carrying value at end of year

*

*

*

–

*

*

*

*

1

*

Reconciliation of carrying value
Office equipment

Balance at beginning of the year
Additions
Depreciation
Carrying value at end of the year
* Amount below R0.5 million.
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*

1

*

*

1

1

7.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
R million
Investment in Different Life

2017

2016

20

–

20

–

During the year under review, Stangen invested in a 15% equity stake in Different Life Proprietary Limited
for a cash consideration of R20 million. A further issuance of shares by Different Life Proprietary Limited,
as anticipated at the time of investing, diluted the company’s effective holding to 13%.
The investment in Different Life is categorised as available for sale held at the fair value through other
comprehensive income (level 3 in terms of the fair value hierarchy) and except for this financial asset,
there were no transfers to or from level 3 in the current or prior year.
The fair value of the investment has been determined by inputs that are not based on observable
market data. The budgeted future expected cash flows from the underlying entity have been discounted
at the company’s expected rate of return over a three-year period, taking inflationary growth into
account. Other unobservable inputs noted in the calculation relate to lead costs, average premium,
not taken-up (NTU) rates, strike factors and various cost assumptions.

8.

OTHER ASSETS
R million
Amounts due from African Bank Limited (“ABL”)
Residual Debt Services Limited (“RDS’’) – senior stub instrument
Prepaid expenses
Sundry debtors

2017

2016

51

60

1

–

48

–

1

–

101

60

RDS restructuring
On 10 August 2014, the South African Reserve Bank (SARB) announced that it is placing African
Bank Limited (now Residual Debt Services Limited) under curatorship with effect from that day. The
announcement contained a proposal for the restructuring of the liabilities of African Bank. As per
the proposal, senior debt instruments and wholesale deposits (excluding subordinated debt holders)
would be transferred at 90% of the face value following the restructuring. Thus, in 2016, the amounts
receivable from ABL were recorded in the manner reflecting the measures proposed by SARB (the
wholesale deposits were recorded at 90% of face value).
The Offering Information Memorandum (“OIM”) was issued on 4 February 2016 and implemented on
4 April 2016. The OIM provided that 80% of the debt was to be transferred to “New African Bank
Limited”, 10% was to be paid out in cash in April 2016 and senior stub notes in RDS issued for the
remaining 10%.
Amounts due from African Bank Limited
Phoenix negotiated an early settlement agreement with New African Bank in terms of which most of the
80% transferred to New African Bank was also paid out in cash. The remaining amount of R51 million
due from ABL, is non-interest bearing and payable in April 2018.
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8.

OTHER ASSETS continued
Residual Debt Services Limited (‘’RDS’’) – senior stub instrument
Phoenix had previously impaired its deposit with RDS by the initial 10% “haircut”, which 10% was
subsequently issued as the senior stub instrument in terms of the OIM (number of units: 65.9 million), as
the recoverability was indeterminate.
The carrying value was reviewed following an update released by the curator of Residual Debt Services
Limited on 8 June 2017 which indicated that a partial settlement of the senior stub instrument is
anticipated, albeit within a framework of uncertain timing and quantum. Phoenix has now recorded the
senior stub at a value of 73 cents in the rand, representative of open market trading prices in the month
of September 2017. The stub instrument is classified as loans and receivables in terms of IAS 39 and
measured at amortised cost.

9.

REINSURANCE ASSETS
R million

2017

2016

Reinsurance asset relating to Hannover Re

*

–

Opening balance

–

47

Release of reinsurance asset – Swiss Re

–

(50)

–

3

Reinsurance asset relating to Swiss Re

–

–

Transfer to reinsurance asset – Guardrisk

–

Settlement of Swiss Re

Reinsurance asset reflected under discontinued operation

246

–

(246)

–

–

* Amount below R0.5 million.

The group implemented a new reinsurance agreement in July 2017 for the fully underwritten life business
with Hannover Re.
The group reached an agreement with Swiss Re Life & Health (“Swiss Re”) for early termination of the
credit life treaty effective 1 April 2016, in anticipation of the financial settlement reached with the banking
parties on the run-down credit life portfolio.
A reinsurance treaty with Guardrisk was concluded effective 1 April 2016 whereby 100% of the
insurance risk was transferred to Guardrisk in exchange for an upfront reinsurance premium rebate.
This treaty was subsequently terminated on 30 June 2017 with the formal transfer of the credit life
portfolio to Guardrisk, after FSB approval was obtained on 8 June 2017 (refer to note 14 – Discontinued
operations).
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10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
R million

2017

2016

84

228

Fixed and notice deposit accounts

1 772

1 587

Cash and cash equivalents

1 881

1 833

Current accounts
Call accounts

18

25

Current accounts are assets with interest rates generally linked to prime.
Call deposits are all with SA Banks and bear interest at market related rates. Money on call constitute
amounts withdrawable on demand.
Fixed and notice deposits are all with SA Banks bearing market-related rates.

11. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
2017
Number
of shares
Authorised:

Ordinary shares of 2.5 cents each

2016
R million

Number
of shares

R million

2 000 000 000

50 2 000 000 000

50

1 427 005 272

36 1 427 005 272

36

Issued:

Ordinary shares at par value of 2.5 cents
each
Ordinary share premium
Total share capital and premium
Shares held to be cancelled

n/a

1 427 005 272
–

n/a

14 614

14 650 1 427 005 272

14 650

74 087 960

–

14 614

–

Reconciliation of number of shares

Ordinary shares at par value of 2.5 cents
each
Shares to be cancelled
Total number of shares in issue

1 427 005 272

1 501 093 232

–

74 087 960

1 427 005 272

1 427 005 272

Unissued shares
The directors have no authority to issue any of the unissued share capital.
Shares in issue
Save for the return of the shares to the company of 74 087 960 that were cancelled in April 2017, there
has been no other movement in the issued shares during the 2017 and 2016 financial years.
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12. PREFERENCE SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
2017
Number
of shares
Authorised:

Preference shares of 1 cent each

2016
R million

Number
of shares

R million

20 000 000

*

20 000 000

*

13 523 029

*

13 523 029

*

Issued:

Preference shares at par value of 1 cent
each
Preference share premium

1 130

1 130

* Amount below R0.5 million.

13 523 029 non-redeemable, non-cumulative, non-participating preference shares with a par value of
R0.01 are in issue. Five million shares were issued on 23 March 2005 at a premium of R99.99 per share
and share issue expenses of R23 million were set-off against the preference share premium. A further
3 042 251 shares were issued during the 2011 financial year and 5 480 778 shares were issued in the
2012 financial year. The shares were issued at a premium of R76.13 per share and share expenses of
R6 million were set off against the preference share premium. These shares rank pari passu with the
8 042 251 preference shares already in issue.
Phoenix cannot declare an ordinary dividend unless a preference dividend has been declared. If a
dividend is declared, the preference share dividends will be calculated at 69% of the daily average prime
overdraft rate which prevailed in respect of the period for which the dividend is calculated.

13. RESERVES
R million

2017

2016

Accumulated loss

(13 954)

(14 140)

Total reserves

(13 954)

(14 140)

Reserves comprise the following:

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (DISPOSAL GROUP)
Stangen initiated a formal process to transfer the remaining credit life business to Guardrisk during the
2016 financial year, which was 100% reinsured to Guardrisk. On 31 October 2016, a transfer agreement
between Stangen and Guardrisk was signed which resulted in Guardrisk becoming the primary insurer
of the credit life business sold via Residual Debt Services Limited and (the new) African Bank Limited.
It was also agreed that the reinsurance agreement between Stangen and Guardrisk would be
terminated once the transfer was approved by the FSB. The transfer was finally approved by the
FSB on 8 June 2017, with an operative date of 30 June 2017. The reinsurance agreement with
Guardrisk was terminated on the same day.
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION continued
Results of discontinued operation
R million
Insurance premium and reinsurance income
Interest and other investment income
Total income

Net insurance claims

2017

2016

–

1 107

–

30

–

1 137

(12)

(306)

–

(30)

(12)

815

–

Operating and administration expenses
Impairment of financial assets
(Loss) / profit before taxation
Taxation

14

3

(228)

(Loss) / profit for the year

(9)

587

–

–

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

(9)

587

–

246

–

21

–

267
(246)

Reinsurance creditors

–

–

(21)

Total liabilities of disposal group

–

(267)

(12)

492

Other comprehensive income

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the disposal
group:
Assets

Reinsurance assets
Reinsurance debtors
Total assets of disposal group
Liabilities

Policyholders’ liabilities under insurance contracts

Cash flows (used in) / generated from discontinued operations:
Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Net cash from financing activities
Net cash flows

–

(191)

–

–

(12)

301
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15. DEFERRED TAX
Temporary differences
2017

Bonus accrual

Opening Recognised in
balance profit or loss
R million
R million

Closing
balance
R million

*

(1)

(1)

16

(16)

*

2016
Statutory margin of 7.5% added to IBNR
* Amount below R0.5 million.

16. POLICYHOLDERS’ LIABILITIES UNDER INSURANCE CONTRACTS
R million

2017

2016

Balance at end of year

128

191

Opening balance

191

762

Release from the statement of comprehensive income

(63)

(142)

–

(429)

Policyholders’ liabilities under insurance contracts

128

191

Total policyholders’ liabilities

128

191
191

Expense reserve

1

127

–

Total

128

191

Transfer of policyholder liabilities to Guardrisk
Comprising:

Policyholders’ liabilities per claim category:
Death IBNR

Process used to decide on assumptions
Best estimate assumptions were derived based on the experience investigations. Once the best
estimate assumptions were arrived at, statutory margins were added as required in terms of the local
actuarial guidance notes.
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16. POLICYHOLDERS’ LIABILITIES UNDER INSURANCE CONTRACTS continued
The statutory margins are summarised as follows:
Assumption

Compulsory margin

Investment earnings

0.25% increase / decrease in rate whichever produces the higher
liability.

Expense inflation

10% loading, i.e. 1.1 times the expense inflation assumption used.

Mortality

Assumption increased by 7.5%, i.e. 1.075 times the relevant
mortality rate.

Morbidity

Assumption increased by 10%, i.e. 1.1 times the relevant disability
rate.

Lapses

25% increase / decrease in lapse rate whichever produces the
higher liability, i.e. multiply by 1.25 or 0.75 times the lapse rate used.

Expenses

10% loading, i.e. 1.1 times the expense assumption used.

In addition to the above compulsory margins the following discretionary margins were incorporated:
Assumptions

Discretionary margin

Reduction of negative
reserves

We have allowed for future profits emerging over the next four years
when calculating the expense reserve. The discretionary margin
is thus equal to the amount required to eliminate those negative
reserves that arise after this four‑year period. This margin was Rnil in
the current financial year.

The assumptions used for insurance contracts are as follows:
a) Mortality
Standard assured lives mortality tables were used as a base to reflect the group’s recent claims
experience. Allowance was also included for AIDS related claims based on the most recent local
actuarial guidance notes and the tables were modified in the light of the group’s overall mortality
experience.
b) Morbidity
The morbidity tables that were used were derived from the mortality rates. These tables reflect the
group’s most recent claims experience.
c) Persistency
Historical lapse experience was analysed to determine the future rates of policies.
d) Investment returns
The valuation rate of interest is based on the expected return on the assets backing the life fund.
The expected return is determined with reference to the available rates in the market and actual
returns earned in the past.
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16. POLICYHOLDERS’ LIABILITIES UNDER INSURANCE CONTRACTS continued
e) Renewal expenses and inflation
Total expenses budgeted by Stangen for the four years following the valuation date were split
between acquisition and maintenance expenses. Maintenance expenses were determined on a
per policy basis using Stangen’s budget. These figures were extended by inflation for the remaining
period of the valuation projection and the results adopted in the calculation of the policyholder
liabilities. An additional reserve was determined as the present value of the amount by which the
total budgeted expenses of Stangen exceeded the margins which were anticipated to be released
each year over the future lifetime of the policies included in the actuarial valuation, including the
allowance for expenses determined above. To the extent that some of these expenses would be
absorbed by the writing of new business in the future, this total was proportionately reduced.
IBNR reserves were determined using the Bornheutter-Ferguson method. Loss ratios were found by
comparing present value of claims against the present value of premiums according to the valuation
assumptions.

17. BORROWINGS
R million
Loan from African Bank Limited

2017

2016

23

23

The loan to Gilt Edged Management Services Proprietary Limited (“GEMS”) from African Bank Limited
is unsecured, interest-free and is payable on demand. GEMS also has a deposit with African Bank
Limited (refer to note 8)

18. REINSURANCE CREDITOR
R million
Amount due to reinsurance

2017

2016

*

–

* Amount below R0.5 million.

Stangen implemented a new reinsurance agreement for its fully underwritten life business with Hannover
Re. The amount reflects reinsurance premium due to Hannover Re.
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19. OTHER LIABILITIES
R million

2017

Accrual for leave pay and bonuses

2016
8

5

Sundry creditors and accruals
Provisions for guarantees issued

7

6

13

13

13

13

38

40

–

Shareholders for odd-lot offer
Shareholders for unclaimed dividends

–

Opening
balance

Provisions,
interest
recognised
and payments
made during
the year

Closing
balance

2017

–

–

–

Total

–

–

–

Provisions for guarantees

387

(387)

–

Total

387

(387)

–

R million
Provisions for guarantees

–

–

–

2016

The provisions for guarantees is related to the guarantees provided by Phoenix to various banks in
respect of loan facilities provided to Ellerine Holdings Limited (in business rescue) (“EHL”) and Ellerine
Furnishers Proprietary Limited (in business rescue) (“EF”) in June and July 2014 to the total value of
R550 million. These guarantees were called by the funders and hence provided for. The provisions were
equal to the guarantee value less payments made by EF plus interest accrued on the unpaid amount.
The guarantees were settled in full as part of the Phoenix business rescue process. Phoenix now has
the right to participate in distributions made by the principle debtors, EHL and EF to their respective
creditors. In the current financial year R45 million was recovered from EF.

20. INSURANCE PREMIUMS AND REINSURANCE INCOME
R million
Insurance premiums
Reinsurance income

2017

2016

64

86

*

–

64

86

* Amount below R0.5 million
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21. INVESTMENT INCOME
R million
Fixed deposit and call interest received

2017

2016

140

114

140

114

45

–

2

–

47

–

22. OTHER INCOME
Recovery of fully impaired claims against EF and EHL
Management fees received

Phoenix has, as set out in note 19 above, the right to participate in distributions made by the EHL and
EF to their respective creditors. In the current financial year R45 million was recovered from EF.

23. INSURANCE CLAIMS
Individual benefits:
Benefit claims (including IBNR)
Movement in expense reserve

(24)

(14)

62

(189)

38

(203)

24. OPERATING AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Split of operating costs between commission, continued and discontinued operations
Gross commissions
Operating and administration expenses attributable to continuing
operations
Operating and administration expenses attributable to discontinued
operations (also refer to note 14)

–

11

93

80

12

306

105

397

The operating and administration expenses were historically allocated between continuing and
discontinuing operations based on the number of active policies. The bulk of the prior year operating
expenses were therefore allocated to discontinuing operations.
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24. OPERATING AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES continued
R million
Actuarial fees
Administration and management costs
Amortisation of software
Audit fees
Binder fees and outsourcing fees
Business rescue fees
Commissions
Consulting fees
Debit order expenses
Depreciation
Finance charges
Legal fees
Marketing and advertising
Non-executive directors’ remuneration – fees
Other costs
Secretarial fees
Staff costs
Basic remuneration
Bonuses and incentives
Contributions to provident fund
Software maintenance costs

2017

2016

4

3

1

–

–

2

2

2

12
1

6
35

–

268

5

8

–

10

18

–

6
*

5
5

9

1

7
1
14
4
3
1

33

28

19

15

12

11

2

2

3

5

105

397

* Amount below R0.5 million
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25. TAXATION
R million

2017

Normal taxation – continued operations
Deferred taxation – continued operations

8

48

(1)

(15)

Total taxation – continued operations

47

(7)

Normal taxation – discontinued operations

(3)

228

Total taxation

44

221

2017

2016

28.00

28.00

(5.55)

–

%
Tax rate reconciliation
Statutory tax rate

Non-taxable income (recovery of fully impaired claim)
Capital items (reversal of and impairment of financial instrument)
Non-deductible expenses

1

Effective tax rate
1

2016

(5.21)

–

2.18

3.01

19.42

31.01

A proportion of expenses in Phoenix is disallowed due to the nature of income earned being non-taxable as
defined in the Income Tax Act (Section 11(a)).

26. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN BASIC EARNINGS AND HEADLINE EARNINGS
R million
Profit / (loss) for the year from continuing operations
(Loss) / profit for the year from discontinuing operations

2016

195

(96)

(9)

587

Profit for the year

186

491

Basic earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

186

491

–

14

186

505

13.7

(6.5)

Adjusted for:
Loss on transfer of business (discontinued operations)
Headlines earnings
Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents)

Basic earnings / (loss) per ordinary share – continued operations
Basic (loss) / earnings per ordinary share – discontinued operations
Basic earnings per ordinary share – total
Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents)

Headline earnings / (loss) per ordinary share – continued operations
Headline (loss) / earnings per ordinary share – discontinued
operations
Headline earnings per ordinary share – total

72
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(0.6)

39.5

13.0

33.0

13.7

(6.5)

(0.6)

40.5

13.0

34.0

26. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN BASIC EARNINGS
AND HEADLINE EARNINGS continued
2017

Number of shares (million)

Total number
of shares
in issue

Number of shares issued at the
end of the year

1 427

2016
Weighted
number Total number
of shares
of shares
in issue
in issue

Weighted
number
of shares
in issue

1 501

1 486

2017

2016

242

(94)

–

10

*

–

1 427

27. ORDINARY AND PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS
Ordinary dividends
No ordinary dividends were declared during the year (2016: Nil cents)
Preference dividends
No preference dividends were declared during the year (2016: Nil cents)

28. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R million
Profit / (loss) before taxation
Adjustment for:
Movement in provisions and finance costs
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation
Non-cash dividend received
Movement in working capital
Movement in expense reserve
(Reversal of) / impairment of financial assets
Cash generated by / (utilised in) operations

1

–

–

(2)

(4)

(55)

(62)

13

(46)

9

131

(119)

140

114

* Amount below R0.5 million.

29. CASH RECEIPTS FROM POLICYHOLDERS AND INVESTMENTS
Investment income received
Insurance premium received
Other income received
Cash receipts from policyholders and investments

64

536

47

–

251

650
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30. CASH PAID TO POLICYHOLDERS, SUPPLIERS AND EMPLOYEES
R million

2017

Remuneration, bonuses and incentives paid to employees and
directors
Other operating expenses paid

2016
(32)

(38)

(540)

(54)

Insurance benefits and claims paid
Movement in working capital
Cash paid to policyholders, suppliers and employees

(24)

(197)

(4)

–

(120)

(769)

31. DIRECT TAXATION PAID
Increase / (decrease) in tax liability
Taxation charged to the income statement (note 25)

1

Deferred tax portion of amount charged to the income statement
(note 15)
Taxation paid
1

(26)

2

(44)

(221)

(1)

(16)

(43)

(263)

The taxation charged to the income statement (direct as well as deferred tax) above consists of the tax
attributable to both continued and discontinued operations.

32. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
The holding company has entered into financial services transactions with its subsidiaries. Transactions
between the holding company and The Standard General Insurance Company Limited (“Stangen”),
Customer Protection Insurance Company Limited (“CPI”) and Gilt Edged Management Services
Proprietary Limited (“GEMS”) were in the ordinary course of business on market-related terms and
conditions similar to those arranged with third parties.
Balances

Transaction
types

Stangen

Receivable

Gilt Edged Management Services

Receivable

Total
* Amounts below R0.5 million.

The receivables have no specific repayment terms and carry no interest.
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2017
R million

2016
R million

*

*

*

–

*

*

32. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS continued
2017
R million

2016
R million
350

Administration fees

–

*

Customer Protection Insurance Company
(in liquidation)

(2)

Dividends

2

Business rescue fees

Fees

9

Transactions

Transaction types

Stangen

Dividends

Stangen

Total

(1)

(35)

6

317

* Amounts below R0.5 million.

33. SEGMENT INFORMATION
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components
of the group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate
resources to the segments and to assess their performance.
Information reported to the group’s chief operating decision-maker for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance is more specifically focused on the category of each
type of service provided.
Insurance
Segment revenue and results
R million

Credit
Life

Funeral

–

182

182

69

251

(12)

37

25

67

92

–

116

116

24

140

–

–

–

46

46

–

151

151

91

242

(12)

–

(12)

–

(12)

Total assets

–

1 548

1 548

470

2 018

Total liabilities

–

140

140

52

192

2017

Net income
EBITDA
Interest received
Reversal of impairment /
(impairment) of financial
instruments
Profit before taxation attributable
to shareholders from continuing
operations
Loss before taxation attributable
to shareholders from discontinuing
operations

Total Corporate

Total
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33. SEGMENT INFORMATION continued
Insurance
Segment revenue and results
R million

Credit
Life

Funeral

–

174

174

26

200

1 137

–

1 137

–

1 137

787

(142)

645

(58)

587

30

88

118

26

144

Impairment of financial instruments

–

–

–

(9)

(9)

Finance charges

–

–

–

(10)

(10)

Profit before taxation attributable
to shareholders from continuing
operations

–

(52)

(52)

(51)

(103)

Profit before taxation attributable
to shareholders from discontinuing
operations

815

–

815

–

815

Total assets

267

1 519

1 786

376

2 162

Total liabilities

267

201

468

54

522

Total Corporate

Total

2016
Net income (continuing operations)
Net income (discontinuing
operations)
EBITDA
Interest received

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
Contingent liabilities
A number of Ellerine Furnishers employees have claimed amounts due to them from Ellerine Furnishers
Proprietary Limited (in business rescue) and Ellerine Holdings Limited (in business rescue). The amounts
claimed by the employees is R42.6 million. The employees are also seeking to recover this amount from
Phoenix. The legal opinion obtained by Phoenix from an eminent senior counsel indicates that the group
is not liable for payment of the amounts claimed and accordingly the group has not provided for this
contingent liability.
The parties, including Phoenix, have agreed to settlement via arbitration, which process has
commenced and is ongoing.
Contingent assets
The provisions for guarantees is related to the guarantees provided by Phoenix to various banks in
respect of loan facilities provided to Ellerine Holdings Limited (in business rescue) (“EHL”) and Ellerine
Furnishers Proprietary Limited (in business rescue) (“EF”) in June and July 2014 to the total value of
R550 million. These guarantees were called by the funders and hence provided for. The provisions were
equal to the guarantee value less payments made by EF plus interest accrued on the unpaid amount.
The guarantees were settled in full as part of the Phoenix business rescue process. Phoenix now has
the right to participate in distributions made by the principle debtors, EHL and EF to their respective
creditors. In the current financial year R45 million was recovered from EF.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK
35.1 INTEREST RATE RISK
The group is exposed to interest rate risk associated with the effects of fluctuations in the
prevailing levels of market rates on its financial positions and cash flows. The table below
summarises the exposure to interest rate risk through grouping assets and liabilities into repricing
categories, determined to be the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity date.

R million

Noninterest
Up to
1 to 3 4 to 12
Beyond sensitive
1 month months months 12 months
items

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

–

13

13

20

–

20

2017

Assets

Intangible assets
Equipment
Financial assets
Other assets
Reinsurance assets
Taxation
Deferred tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Deferred tax liability
Taxation
Policyholder liabilities
Borrowings
Reinsurance creditor
Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

51

2

101

–

–

–

1

1

–

–

–

–

1 486
–

–

109

286

1 486

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1

48

286
–

1

–

109
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

*

–

–

1

1

–

–

–

1 881

48

71

18

2 018

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

*

–

3

–

128

128

*

–

*

–

23

–

38

–

3

–

–

23

–

–

–

38

131

192

Disposal group

–

–

–

–

Total liabilities

–

–

–

–

61
–

1 826

1 826

–

Total shareholders’ equity

–

–

–

–

Total liabilities and
equity

–

–

–

–

61

1 957

2 018

On balance sheet
interest sensitivity

109

286

1 486

48

10

(1 939)

–
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35. FINANCIAL RISK continued
35.1 INTEREST RATE RISK continued

R million

Noninterest
Up to
1 to 3 4 to 12
Beyond sensitive
1 month months months 12 months
items

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

2016
Assets

Intangible assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Equipment

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

Other assets

–

–

–

–

60

–

60

Taxation

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

246

–

1 587

–

–

–

1 833

–

–

–

–

267

–

267

246

–

1 587

–

327

2

2 162

Deferred tax liability

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Taxation

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group
Total assets
Liabilities and equity

Policyholder liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

191

191

Borrowings

–

–

–

–

23

–

23

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

40

–

40

Disposal group

–

–

–

–

267

–

267

Total liabilities

–

–

–

–

330

192

522

Total shareholders’ equity

–

–

–

–

–

1 640

1 640

Total liabilities and
equity

–

–

–

–

330

1 832

2 162

246

–

1 587

–

(3)

(1 830)

–

On balance sheet interest
sensitivity
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35. FINANCIAL RISK continued
35.2 LIQUIDITY RISK

R million

Up to
1 to 3 4 to 12
1 month months months

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

–

13

13

20

–

20

12 to 24
Beyond
months 24 months

2017

Assets

Intangible assets
Equipment
Financial assets
Other assets
Reinsurance assets
Taxation
Deferred tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Deferred taxation
Taxation
Policyholder liabilities
Borrowings
Reinsurance creditor
Other liabilities
Disposal group

–

–

–

2
*

–

–

–

–

–

3
–

–

–

–

–

–

51
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

109

286

1 486
–

–

111

289

1 537

–

–

–

–

–

–
*

38

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

45
–

–

–

–

1

–

1

–

1

101
*

1

1

–

–

–

1 881

65

16

2 018

–

–

–

3

–

–

3

–

128

128

–

–

*

–

23

–

–

–

1

–

23

–

38
192

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total liabilities

38
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

23
–

131

1 826

1 826

Total liabilities and
equity

38

–

–

–

23

1 957

2 018

Net liquidity gap

73

289

1 537

–

42

(1 941)

–

Total shareholders’ equity

–

* Amounts below R0.5 million.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK continued
35.2 LIQUIDITY RISK continued

R million

Up to
1 to 3 4 to 12
1 month months months

Nonfinancial
12 to 24 Beyond
instrumonths 24 months
ments

Total

2016
Assets

Intangible assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Equipment

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

60

–

–

–

–

–

60

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

246

–

1 587

–

–

–

1 833

–

–

267

–

–

–

267

306

–

1 854

–

–

2

2 162

Deferred taxation

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Taxation

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

Other assets
Taxation
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group
Total assets
Liabilities and equity

–

–

–

–

–

191

191

Borrowings

Policyholder liabilities

23

–

–

–

–

–

23

Other liabilities

40

–

–

–

–

–

40

Disposal group

–

–

267

–

–

–

267

Total liabilities

63

–

267

–

–

192

522

–

–

–

–

–

1 640

1 640

Total liabilities and equity

63

–

267

–

–

1 832

2 162

243

–

1 587

–

–

(1 830)

–

Total shareholders’ equity

Net liquidity gap

The table above analyses the group’s assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at statement of financial position date to contractual maturity date.
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36. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
36.1 ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

R million

Loans and
receivables
at amortised
cost

Available
for sale
at fair value Non-financial
through OCI instruments

Total

2017

Assets

Intangible assets
Equipment
Financial assets
Other assets
Reinsurance assets
Taxation
Deferred tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group

–

–

13

13

–

20

–

20

*

–

–

101

–

–

1 881

–

–

–

1

1

–

101

–

1

1

–

–

1 881

–

–

–

1

–

*

1

–

1 982

20

16

2 018

–

–

1

1

60

–

–

60

–

–

1

1

1 833

–

–

1 833

21

–

246

267

1 914

–

248

2 162

2017

2016

140

114

* Amounts below R0.5 million.

2016
Assets

Equipment
Other assets
Taxation
Cash and cash equivalents
Disposal group

Income statement effect of financial instruments by category
R million
Interest income recognised – loans and receivables

The carrying amount of the financial assets carried at amortised cost approximates their fair value. The
carrying amount reflected above represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit life for such loans and
receivables.
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36. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES continued
36.2 ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Liabilities
held at
amortised Non-financial
cost instruments

R million
2017

Deferred tax liability
Taxation
Policyholders’ liability
Borrowings
Other liabilities
Reinsurance creditor

–
–

Total

–

3

–

3

–

128

128

38

–

38

23
*

–
–

23
*

61

131

192

Deferred tax liability

–

–

–

Taxation

–

1

1

Policyholders’ liability

–

191

191

Borrowings

23

–

23

Other liabilities

40

–

40

Disposal group

21

246

267

84

438

522

2016

The carrying amount of financial liabilities measured either at fair value or at amortised cost approximates their
fair value.

37. RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial assets and liabilities are measured either at fair value or amortised cost in the statement of
financial position. Assets include bank balances stated at cost. Policyholder liabilities are valued in
accordance with the long-term assumptions set out in the statement of actuarial values in these annual
financial statements.
37.1 INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
The more important financial risks to which the group is exposed and the manner in which they
are managed are described below:
Changes in market interest rates have a direct effect on the contractually determined cash flows
associated with floating rate financial assets and liabilities. The group follows a conservative
investment policy as can be seen from the significant cash and cash equivalent holdings. Fixed
and call deposit investments not exceeding six months make up the majority of the group’s
investments to minimise the group’s interest rate risk exposure.
The table below summarises the group’s exposure to interest rate risk through grouping assets
into repricing categories, determined to be the earlier of the contractual repricing date or maturity.
A possible change of 1% was used based on historic changes in the relevant categories within a
12-month period.
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37. RISK MANAGEMENT continued
37.1 INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Sensitivity
analysis

Carrying
value at
year-end
R million

Carrying
Index
value to which Reasonable
exposed to interest
possible
market risk
rate is
change
R million
linked
%

Statement of
comprehensive
income impact
Pre-tax
R million

Post-tax
R million

19

14

19

14

19

14

18

13

18

13

18

13

2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

1 881

1 881

1 881

1 881

Prime

1.00

Net effect on income statement and equity
2016
Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

1 833

1 833

1 833

1 833

Net effect on income statement and equity

Prime

1.00

37.2 CREDIT RISK
Fair values of financial assets may be affected by the credit worthiness of the issuer. All domestic
large exposures are with South African banks licensed under the Banks Act No. 94 of 1990. The
limitation of assets as regulated by the Long-Term Insurance Act of 1998 is used as guidance for
large exposures. The group has no foreign credit risk.
37.3 CURRENCY RISK
The group has no currency risk exposure.
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37. RISK MANAGEMENT continued
37.4 INSURANCE RISK
The risk under any one insurance contract is the probability that the insured event occurs and the
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this
risk is stochastic and individually unpredictable, but in aggregate subject to statistical evaluation.
For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and
provisioning, the principal risk that the group faces under its insurance contracts is that the
actual claims and benefit payments exceed the determined insurance liabilities. This could occur
because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance
estimates are stochastic and the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will vary from
year to year. For this reason, the actual amount could be very different from the estimate which
was calculated using statistical techniques.
Stangen is a wholly-owned subsidiary within the African Phoenix Investments Limited (”Phoenix”)
group.
Frequency and severity of claims
For contracts where death is the insured risk, the most significant factors that could increase the
overall frequency of claims are epidemics such as AIDS. The group manages these risks through
its underwriting strategy, appropriate pricing models and additional provisioning.
The tables below present the distribution of insured benefits across five brands of insured benefits
per individual credit life assured:
2017

2016

Number Sum assured
of policies
R million
Before reinsurance
R0 – R1 000

R1 001 – R5 000
R5 001 – R10 000
R10 001 – R50 000
> R50 001
Total
After reinsurance
R0 – R1 000

R1 001 – R5 000
R5 001 – R10 000
R10 001 – R50 000
> R50 001
Total
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Number of Sum assured
policies
R million
30 038

7

–

67 530

205

–

69 041

497

–

85 594

1 617

–

13 078

1 047

–

–

265 281

3 373

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–
–

37. RISK MANAGEMENT continued
37.4 INSURANCE RISK continued
The table below represents the distribution of insured benefits across two bands for the non-credit
life benefits:
2017

2016

Number Sum assured
of policies
R million
Before reinsurance
R5 001 – R10 000

R10 001 – R50 000
> R50 001
Total

30 133

301

53 318

533

656

23 966

568

142

109

–

–

1 066

77 284

1 101

27 177

57 452
2017

2016

Number Sum assured
of policies
R million
Reinsurance

R5 001 – R10 000

Number of Sum assured
policies
R million

Number of Sum assured
policies
R million

–

–

–

–

–

–

> R50 001

120

–

48

–

–

Total

120

48

–

–

R10 001 – R50 000

–

The table below presents an analysis of the policyholders’ liability across the claim categories
(gross of reinsurance):
R million
Policyholders’ liabilities per claim category:
Death

Permanent disability
Temporary disability
Retrenchment
Expense reserve
Data reserve
Total

2017

2016

1

27

–

2

–

–

7
99

127

189

–

112

128

436
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37. RISK MANAGEMENT continued
37.4 INSURANCE RISK continued
Sensitivity of the policyholders’ liability to changes in assumptions:
R million

Policyholder liability

2017
Change in
variable
%

Death

10

Permanent disability

10

Temporary disability

10

Retrenchment

10

Expense reserve
Total

2016

Change in liability
4

7

–

–

–

1
10

10

–

19

23

10

23

41

Claims developments
Claims development is a function of the period when the earliest material claim event arose and
for which there remains uncertainty about the amount and timing of the claim payments. It is
unnecessary for an insurer to disclose information on claims for which uncertainty about the
amount and timing of claims payment is typically resolved within one year.
Based on the group’s experience, claims are typically paid within a period of 12 months from the
date of the claim event, with the majority of claims being settled within six months. As at yearend, no uncertainty exists regarding the amount and timing of claims payments that would not be
resolved within the following 12 months.
Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of the future benefit payments and premium receipts
Uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments and premium receipts for long-term
insurance contracts arises from the unpredictability of long-term changes in overall levels of
mortality and the variability in policyholder behaviour.
Where the number of deaths in future years differ by 10% from the statutory actuary’s estimate,
the liability would change by R4.2 million.
Estimates are also made as to the future investment income arising from assets backing long-term
insurance contracts. These estimates are based on current market returns as well as expectations
about future economic and financial developments. The average estimated rate of investment
return is 7.75% per annum. Were the average future investment returns to differ by 1% from the
statutory actuary’s estimates, the insurance liability would change by approximately R2.8 million.
The group uses appropriate base tables of standard mortality according to the type of contract
being written. An investigation into the actual experience of the group over the past year is carried
out, and statistical methods are used to adjust mortality rates to produce a best estimate of
expected mortality.
The group maintains termination statistics to investigate the deviation of actual termination
experience against assumptions. Statistical methods are used to determine appropriate
termination rates. An allowance is then made for any trends in the data to arrive at the best
estimate of future termination rates.
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37. RISK MANAGEMENT continued
37.4 INSURANCE RISK continued
Underwriting risk
The statutory actuary reports annually on the actuarial soundness of the premium rates in use
and the profitability of the business taking into consideration the reasonable benefit expectation of
policyholders.
All new rate tables are approved and authorised by the statutory actuary prior to being issued.
Regular investigations into mortality experience are conducted.
Legal risk
During the development stage of any new product and for material transactions entered into
by the company, group resources, internally and externally, monitor the drafting of contract
documents to ensure that rights and obligations of all parties are clearly set out.
Capital adequacy and capital risk management
The group manages capital in order to comply with capital adequacy requirements as determined
by generally accepted actuarial principles in terms of the guidelines issued by the Actuarial
Society of South Africa. It is an estimate of the minimum capital that will be required to meet
fairly substantial deviations from the main assumptions affecting the group’s business. At
30 September 2017, the capital adequacy requirement was R49 million (2016: R44 million).
The group further manages its capital to ensure that it complies with the solvency criteria as
determined by the Long-Term Insurance Act. The management of the group’s solvency will enable
the group to continue as a going concern. The group’s capital structure consists of the items listed
under capital and reserves on the statement of financial position.

38. REINSURANCE ARRANGEMENTS
The group entered into a 100% proportional reinsurance agreement with Guardrisk effective from
1 April 2016 on the remaining credit life portfolio. This was terminated effective 30 June 2017.
Stangen entered into a new insurance treaty with Hannover Re effective July 2017 in respect of its fully
underwritten life business.

39. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The directors are not aware of any matter arising since the end of the financial year, not otherwise dealt
with in the group’s consolidated annual financial statements, which significantly affects the financial
position at 30 September 2017.
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40. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
40.1 EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Retirement,
medical
contributions
and other
Salary payments Other fees3
R000
R000
R000

2017
E Banda1
J Evans

1

2

3

2

Total
cost to
company
package
R000

Annual
bonus
R000

Total
cost to
company
package
R000

–

2 483

–

2 483

7 008

–

7 008

2 483

–
–

1 329

5 679

–

1 329

3 196

4 525

–

4 525

Enos Banda was appointed non-executive chairman on 6 September 2016, Executive Chairman on
1 October 2016 and subsequently Chief Executive Officer on 14 December 2016. Enos’ term as Chief
Executive Officer ended on 30 November 2017. Enos will remain on the board as a non-executive
director.
John Evans was appointed as Financial Director on 1 October 2016. Prior to his appointment as financial
director he was the business rescue practitioner of Phoenix from 5 June 2015 to 19 May 2016.
Other fees:
• The other fees received by John Evans were in respect of his appointment as one of the joint business
rescue practitioners of Phoenix. These fees, incurred and paid in the current year, relate to assets
established and preserved during business rescue and realised in the current financial year. The fees
were paid in terms of the business rescue contract signed with Phoenix.
• In the prior year all fees received by the business rescue practitioners were disclosed as part of related
party transactions (refer to note 32).

There were no executive directors in the previous financial year and as such no remuneration was
incurred by the company.
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40. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION continued
40.2 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
2017

2016

Services Services to
to the other group
company companies
R000
R000
N Adams
E Banda
A Conrad
M Gumbi
N Langa-Royds
C Le Grange
M Mogase
P Mountford
M Mthombeni
I Shongwe
J Symmonds
D Vlok

–

–

714
–

–

263
–

173

–

–

Total
R000
–

–

Services Services to
to the other group
company companies
R000
R000

Total
R000

342

–

342

171

–

171

128

–

128

252

–

252

–

714

–

–

252

–

252

–

–

–

–

529

–

529

–

–

–

–

–

–

263

–

173

–

916

391

1 307

430

290

720

8

–

8

–

–

–

352

–

352

612

–

612

693

–

693

128

–

128

3 371

391

3 762

2 592

290

2 882

The non-executive directors are paid based on a fixed retainer for their responsibilities and duties
as board members plus a per meeting fee for board and committee meetings attended. They do
not participate in any of the company’s bonus and incentive schemes and neither do they receive
any other benefits from the company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AFRICAN PHOENIX INVESTMENTS LIMITED
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of African Phoenix Investments Limited set out on pages 92 to 111,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2017, and the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of African
Phoenix Investments Limited as at 30 September 2017, and its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory
Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. There were no key audit matters which were identified for the
current financial year.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the directors’ report
as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The other information does not include the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of
South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
• We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report
that Grant Thornton Johannesburg has been the auditor of African Phoenix Investments Limited for three years.

GRANT THORNTON
Registered auditors
Practice Number: 903485E
S Kock
Partner
Registered auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)
5 December 2017

@Grant Thornton
Wanderers Office Park
52 Corlett Drive
Illovo
2196
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
as at 30 September 2017
R million

Notes

2017

2016

Other assets

5

–

Cash and cash equivalents

6

44

Assets

Taxation
Investments in subsidiaries

7

Total assets
Equity and liabilities

Ordinary share capital and premium
Reserves

8
10

Ordinary shareholders’ equity
Preference shareholders’ equity

9

Total equity (capital and reserves)
Taxation
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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11

362

317

555

565

962

883

14 650

14 650

1

1

(14 847)

(14 928)

(197)

(278)

1 130

1 130

933

852

–

–

29

31

29

31

962

883

COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 September 2017
R million

Notes

Dividends received
Investment income

12

Other income

13

2017

2016

9

352

23

26

45

–

77

378

43

(9)

–

(10)

86

301

(5)

(7)

Profit for the year

81

294

–

–

Total comprehensive income for the year

81

294

Total income

Operating expenses

14

(24)

(58)

7

(10)

–

Reversal of impairment / (impairment) of financial instruments
Impairment of subsidiaries
Finance costs
Profit before taxation
Taxation

Other comprehensive income

15
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
EQUITY
for the year ended 30 September 2017

R million
Balance at 30 September 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 September 2016
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 September 2017
Notes
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Ordinary
Preference
share capital Accumulated share capital
and premium
loss and premium

Total

14 650

(15 222)

1 130

558

–

294

–

294

14 650

(14 928)

1 130

852

–

81

–

81

14 650

(14 847)

1 130

933

8

10

9

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 September 2017

R million
Cash inflow from operating activities

Notes

2017

2016

17

50

323

77

781

Cash receipts
Cash payments
Direct taxation paid

18

(27)

(458)

(5)

(9)
314

Net cash inflow from operating activities

45

–

(451)

Net cash outflow from funding activities

–

(451)

45

(137)

317

454

362

317

Cash outflow from funding operations

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

6
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2017

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
African Phoenix Investments Limited (“Phoenix”) is a listed company incorporated in the Republic
of South Africa. The company is the ultimate holding company of The Standard General Insurance
Company Limited (“Stangen”) and of a number of non-trading entities.
The principal activities of the company are disclosed in the directors’ report on pages 32 to 35.

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
For details on the new and revised IFRSs in issue please refer to pages 40 to 47 of this report.

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
Refer to pages 47 to 51 of this report.

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The annual financial statements of African Phoenix Investments Limited are prepared according to the
same principles used in preparing the consolidated annual financial statements of the Phoenix group.
For detailed accounting policies please refer to pages 51 to 58 of this report.

5.

OTHER ASSETS
R million
Residual Debt Services Limited (“RDS”) – senior stub instrument
Prepaid expenses
Total other assets

2017

2016

43

–

1

–

44

–

RDS restructuring

On 10 August 2014, the South African Reserve Bank (SARB) announced that it is placing African
Bank Limited (now Residual Debt Services Limited) under curatorship with effect from that day. The
announcement contained a proposal for the restructuring of the liabilities of African Bank. As per the
proposal, senior debt instruments and wholesale deposits (excluding subordinated debt holders)
would be transferred at 90% of the face value following the restructuring. Thus, in 2016, the amounts
receivable from ABL were recorded in the manner reflecting the measures proposed by SARB (the
wholesale deposits were recorded at 90% of face value).
The Offering Information Memorandum (“OIM”) was issued on 4 February 2016 and implemented on
4 April 2016. The OIM provided that 80% of the debt was to be transferred to “New African Bank
Limited”, 10% was to be paid out in cash in April 2016 and senior stub notes in RDS issued for the
remaining 10%.
Phoenix negotiated an early settlement agreement with New African Bank in terms of which most of the
80% transferred to New African Bank was also paid out in cash.
Residual Debt Services Limited (‘’RDS’’) – senior stub instrument

Phoenix had previously impaired its deposit with RDS by the initial 10% “haircut”, which 10% was
subsequently issued as the senior stub instrument in terms of the OIM (number of units: 59.5 million), as
the recoverability was indeterminate.
The carrying value was reviewed following an update released by the curator of Residual Debt Services
Limited on 8 June 2017 which indicated that a partial settlement of the senior stub instrument is
anticipated, albeit within a framework of uncertain timing and quantum. Phoenix has now recorded the
senior stub at a value of 73 cents in the rand, representative of open market trading prices in the month
of September 2017. The stub instrument is classified as loans and receivables in terms of IAS 39 and
measured at amortised cost.
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6.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
R million
Current accounts

2017

2016

73

317
–

Fixed and notice deposits

3

286

–

Cash and cash equivalents

362

317

Call accounts

Current accounts are assets with interest rates generally linked to prime.
Call deposits are all with SA Banks and bear interest at market related rates. Money on call constitute
amounts withdrawable on demand.
Fixed and notice deposits are all with SA Banks bearing market-related rates. Notice deposits constitute
amounts withdrawable in 32 days and the fixed deposit was for a period of six months.

7.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
R million

2017

2016

555

565

555

565

565

565

(10)

–

555

565

Unlisted shares
Shares at cost less impairments

Reconciliation of carrying value
Opening balance
Impairment of investment in Customer Protection Insurance
Company Limited

8.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
2017
Number
of shares
Authorised:

Ordinary shares of 2.5 cents each

2016
R million

Number
of shares

R million

2 000 000 000

50 2 000 000 000

50

1 427 005 272

36 1 427 005 272

36

Issued:

Ordinary shares at par value of
2.5 cents each
Ordinary share premium
Total share capital and premium
Shares held to be cancelled

n/a

14 614

1 427 005 272

14 650 1 427 005 272

14 650

–

74 087 960

n/a

14 614
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Notes to the COMPANY
Annual Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2017

8.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM continued
Unissued shares
The directors have no authority to issue any of the unissued share capital.
Shares in issue
Save for the return of the shares to the company of 74 087 960 that were cancelled in April 2017, there
has been no other movement in the issued shares during the 2017 and 2016 financial years.

9.

PREFERENCE SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
2017
Number
of shares
Authorised:

Preference shares of 1 cent each

2016
R million

Number
of shares

R million

20 000 000

*

20 000 000

*

13 523 029

*

13 523 029

*

Issued:

Preference shares at par value of 1
cent each
Preference share premium

1 130

1 130

* Amount below R0.5 million

13 523 029 non-redeemable, non-cumulative, non-participating preference shares with a par value of
R0.01 are in issue. Five million shares were issued on 23 March 2005 at a premium of R99.99 per share
and share issue expenses of R23 million were set-off against the preference share premium. A further
3 042 251 shares were issued during the 2011 financial year and 5 480 778 shares were issued in the
2012 financial year. The shares were issued at a premium of R76.13 per share and share expenses of
R6 million were set off against the preference share premium. These shares rank pari passu with the
8 042 251 preference shares already in issue.
Phoenix cannot declare an ordinary dividend unless a preference dividend has been declared. If a
dividend is declared, the preference share dividends will be calculated at 69% of the daily average prime
overdraft rate which prevailed in respect of the period for which the dividend is calculated.

10. RESERVES
R million

2017

2016

Accumulated loss

(14 847)

(14 928)

Total reserves

(14 847)

(14 928)

Reserves comprise the following:
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11. OTHER LIABILITIES
R million

2017

2016

3

5

13

13

13

13

29

31

Sundry creditors and accruals
Provisions for guarantees issued

–

Shareholders for odd-lot offer
Shareholders for unclaimed dividends

–

Opening
balance

Provisions,
interest
recognised
and payments
made during
the year

Closing
balance

Provisions for guarantees

–

–

–

Total

–

–

–

Provisions for guarantees

387

(387)

–

Total

387

(387)

–

R million
2017

2016

The provisions for guarantees is related to the guarantees provided by Phoenix to various banks in
respect of loan facilities provided to Ellerine Holdings Limited (in business rescue) (“EHL”) and Ellerine
Furnishers Proprietary Limited (in business rescue) (“EF”) in June and July 2014 to the total value of
R550 million. These guarantees were called by the funders and hence provided for. The provisions were
equal to the guarantee value less payments made by EF plus interest accrued on the unpaid amount.
The guarantees were settled in full as part of the Phoenix business rescue process. Phoenix now has
the right to participate in distributions made by the principle debtors, EHL and EF to their respective
creditors. In the current financial year R45 million was recovered from EF.

12. INVESTMENT INCOME
R million
Fixed deposit and call interest received

2017

2016

23

26

23

26

23

26

Interest income is attributable to:
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)
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Notes to the COMPANY
Annual Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2017

13. OTHER INCOME
R million
Recovery of fully impaired claims against EF and EHL

2017

2016

45

–

Phoenix has, as set out in note 11 above, the right to participate in distributions made by the EHL and
EF to their respective creditors. In the current financial year R45 million was recovered from EF.

14. OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses include:
Executive directors’ remuneration – fees (note 40.1)
Non-executive directors’ remuneration – fees (note 40.2)
Consulting fees

–

7

3

3

6

2

1

35

7

7

24

58

Total taxation

5

7

Current taxation: current year

5

7

2017

2016

28.00

28.00

Business rescue fees (note 19)
Legal expenses
Other costs

7

4

15. TAXATION

%
Tax rate reconciliation
Statutory tax rate

Non-taxable dividend income
Non-taxable income (recovery of fully impaired claim)
Capital items (reversal / impairment of financial instrument)
Non-deductible expenses1
Effective tax rate
1

(32.70)

(14.78)

–

4.15

7.00

5.76

2.30

(8.76)

–

A proportion of expenses in Phoenix is disallowed due to the nature of income earned being non-taxable as
defined in the Income Tax Act (Section 11(a)).

16. ORDINARY AND PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS
Ordinary dividends
No ordinary dividends were declared during the year (2016: Nil cents).
Preference dividends
No preference dividends were declared during the year (2016: Nil cents).

100
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17. CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R million
Profit before taxation
Adjustment for:
Movement in provisions and finance costs

2017

2016

86

301

–

10

–

(2)

(3)

5

(33)

9

50

323

(2)

Direct taxation charged to the income statement (note 15)

–

(5)

(7)

Taxation paid

(5)

(9)

Non-cash dividend received
Movement in working capital
(Reversal of impairment) / impairment of financial asset and
subsidiaries
Cash generated from operations

18. DIRECT TAXATION PAID
Decrease in tax liability

19. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
African Phoenix Investments Limited holds 100% (one hundred percent) of inter alia Theta Investments
Proprietary Limited, Gilt Edged Management Services Proprietary Limited, Customer Protection
Insurance Company Limited and The Standard General Insurance Company Limited. Details of
investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in annexure A. Transactions between the company and its
subsidiaries were in the ordinary course of business on market related terms and conditions similar to
those arranged with third parties.
Balances

Transaction types

Stangen

Receivable

Gilt Edged Management Services

Receivable

Total

2017
R million

2016
R million

*

*

*

*

*

*

2017
R million

2016
R million

–

350

Transactions

Transaction types

Stangen

Dividends

Stangen

Administration fees

(2)

*

Customer Protection Insurance Company
Limited (in liquidation)

Dividends

2

Business rescue fees

Fees

9

Total

(1)

(35)

6

317

* Amounts below R0.5 million.

The receivables have no specific repayment terms and carry no interest.
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Notes to the COMPANY
Annual Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2017

20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
Contingent liabilities
A number of Ellerine Furnishers employees have claimed amounts due to them from Ellerine Furnishers
Proprietary Limited (“EF”) (in business rescue) and Ellerine Holdings Limited (“EHL”) (in business rescue).
The amounts claimed by the employees is R42.6 million.
The employees are also seeking to recover this amount from Phoenix. The legal opinion obtained by the
company from an eminent senior counsel indicates that the company is not liable for payment of the
amounts claimed and accordingly the company has not provided for this contingent liability.
The parties, including Phoenix, have agreed to settlement via arbitration, which process has
commenced.
Contingent assets
The provisions for guarantees is related to the guarantees provided by Phoenix to various banks in
respect of loan facilities provided to EHL and EF in June and July 2014 to the total value of R550 million.
These guarantees were called by the funders and hence provided for. The provisions were equal to the
guarantee value less payments made by EF plus interest accrued on the unpaid amount.
The guarantees were settled in full as part of the Phoenix business rescue process. Phoenix now has
the right to participate in distributions made by the principle debtors, EHL and EF to their respective
creditors. In the current financial year R45 million was recovered from EF.
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21. FINANCIAL RISK
21.1 INTEREST RATE RISK
The company is exposed to interest rate risk associated with the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing levels of market rates on its financial positions and cash flows. The table below
summarises the exposure to interest rate risk through grouping assets and liabilities into repricing
categories, determined to be the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity date.

R million

Up to
1 month

1 to 3
months

–

–

Noninterest
4 to 12 Beyond sensitive
months 12 months
items

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

1

44

2017

Assets

Other assets
Taxation

–

43

–

–

–

1

–

–

–

Cash and cash
equivalents

–

–

–

–

555

–

555

76

286

–

–

–

–

362

Total assets

76

286

–

43

555

2

962

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

29

–

29

Total liabilities

–

–

–

–

29
–

–

933

29

933

Investment in
subsidiaries

Liabilities and equity

1

Total equity

–

–

–

–

Total liabilities and
equity

–

–

–

–

29

933

962

76

286

–

43

526

(931)

–

On balance sheet
interest sensitivity
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Notes to the COMPANY
Annual Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2017

21. FINANCIAL RISK continued
21.1 INTEREST RATE RISK continued
Noninterest
4 to 12 Beyond sensitive
months 12 months
items

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

Up to
1 month

1 to 3
months

Other assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Taxation

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

Investments in
subsidiaries

–

–

–

–

565

–

565

Cash and cash
equivalents

215

–

102

–

–

–

317

Total assets

215

–

102

–

565

1

883

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

31

–

31

Total liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

–

31

Total equity

–

–

–

–

–

852

852

Total liabilities and
equity

–

–

–

–

31

852

883

215

–

102

–

534

(851)

–

R million
2016
Assets

Liabilities and equity

On balance sheet
interest sensitivity
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21. FINANCIAL RISK continued
21.2 LIQUIDITY RISK

Up to
1 month

1 to 3
months

4 to 12
months

1

2
–

–

Cash and cash
equivalents

–

Total assets

R million

Nonfinancial
12 to 36 Beyond
instrumonths 36 months
ments

Total

2017

Assets

Other assets

–

–

–

41

–

–

76

286

77

Other liabilities

29

Total liabilities

29
–

–

–

–

–

933

933

Total liabilities and
equity

29

–

–

–

–

933

962

Net liquidity gap

48

288

–

–

41

(377)

–

Taxation
Investment in subsidiaries

Liabilities and equity

Total equity

–

–

–

1

44

–

–

555

555

–

–

–

–

362

288

–

–

41

556

962

–

–

–

–

–

29

–

–

–

–

–

1

29
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21. FINANCIAL RISK continued
21.2 LIQUIDITY RISK continued
Nonfinancial
12 to 36 Beyond
instrumonths 36 months
ments

Up to
1 month

1 to 3
months

4 to 12
months

Other assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Taxation

–

–

–

–

–

1

1

Investments in
subsidiaries

–

–

–

–

–

565

565

Cash and cash
equivalents

215

–

102

–

–

–

317

Total assets

215

–

102

–

–

566

883

Other liabilities

31

–

–

–

–

–

31

Total liabilities

31

–

–

–

–

–

31

–

–

–

–

–

852

852

Total liabilities and
equity

31

–

–

–

–

852

883

184

–

102

–

–

(286)

–

R million

Total

2016
Assets

Liabilities and equity

Total equity

Net liquidity gap

The table above analyses the company’s assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at statement of financial position date to contractual maturity date.
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22. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
22.1 ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

R million

Loans and
receivables
at amortised Non-financial
cost instruments

Total

2017

Assets

Other assets

–

44

–

555

555

406

556

962

Other assets

–

–

–

Taxation

–

1

1

Investment in subsidiaries

–

565

565

317

–

317

317

566

883

2017

2016

23

26

Taxation
Investments in subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

44

–

362

1

–

1

362

2016
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Income statement effect of financial instruments by category
R million
Interest income recognised – loans and receivables

The carrying amount of the financial assets carried at amortised cost approximates their fair value.
The carrying amount reflected above represents the company’s maximum exposure to credit risk
for such loans and receivables.
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22. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
22.2 ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

R million
2017

Other liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

Liabilities
held at
amortised Non-financial
cost instruments
29

Total

–

29

–

933

933

29

933

962

31

–

31

–

852

852

31

852

883

2016
Other liabilities
Shareholders’ equity

The carrying amount of financial liabilities measured either at fair value or at amortised cost
approximates their fair value.

23. RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial assets and liabilities are measured either at fair value or amortised cost in the statement of
financial position. Assets include bank balances stated at cost.
23.1 INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
The more important financial risks to which the company is exposed and the manner in which they
are managed are described below:
Changes in market interest rates have a direct effect on the contractually determined cash flows
associated with floating rate financial assets and liabilities. The company follows a conservative
investment policy as can be seen from the significant cash and cash equivalent holdings. Fixed
and call deposit investments not exceeding six months make up the majority of the company’s
investments to minimise the company’s interest rate risk exposure.
The table below summarises the company’s exposure to interest rate risk through grouping assets
into repricing categories, determined to be the earlier of the contractual repricing date or maturity.
A possible change of 1% was used based on historic changes in the relevant categories within a
12-month period.
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT continued
23.1 INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Sensitivity
analysis

Carrying
value at
year end
R million

Carrying
Index
value to which Reasonable
exposed to interest
possible
market risk
rate
change
R million is linked
%

Statement of
comprehensive
income impact
Pre-tax
R million

Post-tax
R million

4

3

4

3

4

3

3

2

3

2

3

2

2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

362

362

362

362

Prime

1.00%

Net effect on income statement and equity
2016
Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

317

317

317

317

Net effect on income statement and equity

Prime

1.00%

23.2 CREDIT RISK
Fair values of financial assets may be affected by the credit-worthiness of the issuer. All domestic
large exposures are with South African banks licensed under the Banks Act No. 94 of 1990. The
limitation of assets as regulated by the Long-Term Insurance Act of 1998 is used as guidance for
large exposures. The company has no foreign credit risk.
23.3 CURRENCY RISK
The company has no currency risk exposure.
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ANNEXURE A – INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Direct investment by Phoenix
2017

Type of
business

Issued
share
capital
R million

Effective
Percentage
held
%

Investment
(cost less
impairment)
R million

121

100

100

14 419

(14 419)

Residual Debt Services Limited (RDS)

Under curatorship

RDS impairment

Under curatorship

Theta Investments Proprietary
Limited

Dormant

Theta Investments Proprietary
Limited – impairment

*

100

64

Dormant

The Standard General Insurance
Company Limited – cost

*

100

(64)

Long-Term Insurer

Customer Protection Insurance
Company Limited

5

100

539

In liquidation

Customer Protection Insurance
Company Limited – impairment

10

100

10

In liquidation

Gilt Edged Management Services
Proprietary Limited

–

100

(10)

Dormant

Creditsave Proprietary Limited

Dormant

*

100

16

Creditsave Proprietary Limited –
impairment

Dormant

Ellerine Holdings Limited (EHL)

In business rescue

–

100

(8)

EHL – impairment

In business rescue

–

100

–

*

6

142
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100

100

8

9 664

(9 664)
555

Direct investment by Phoenix

Type of
business

Issued
share
capital
R million

Effective
Percentage
held
%

Investment
(cost less
impairment)
R million

2016
Residual Debt Services Limited (RDS)

Under curatorship

121

100

14 419

RDS impairment

Under curatorship

–

100

(14 419)

Theta Investments Proprietary
Limited

Dormant

*

100

64

Theta Investments Proprietary
Limited – impairment

Dormant

–

100

(64)

The Standard General Insurance
Company Limited – cost

Long-term Insurer

5

100

539

Customer Protection Insurance
Company Limited

Dormant

10

100

10

Gilt Edged Management Services
Proprietary Limited

Dormant

*

100

16

Creditsave Proprietary Limited

Dormant

*

100

8

Creditsave Proprietary Limited –
impairment

Dormant

–

100

(8)

Ellerine Holdings Limited (EHL)

In business rescue

6

100

9 664

EHL – impairment

In business rescue

–

100

(9 664)

142

565

All subsidiaries are incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.
* Amounts below R0.5 million.
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